GENETIC MANIPULATION OF INHIBITORY

RECEPTOR SIGNALLING IN NK CELLS

BY

JIMMY TRAN

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF IMMUNOLOGY FACULTY OF MEDICINE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA WINNIPEG, MANITOBA, CANADA

©JIMMY TRAN, JULY 2008

THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES ***** COPYRIGHT PERMISSION

GENETIC MANIPULATION OF INHIBITORY RECEPTOR SIGNALLING IN NK CELLS

BY

Jimmy Tran

A Thesis/Practicum submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of

Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree

Of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Jimmy Tran © 2008

Permission has been granted to the University of Manitoba Libraries to lend a copy of this thesis/practicum, to Library and Archives Canada (LAC) to lend a copy of this thesis/practicum, and to LAC's agent (UMI/ProQuest) to microfilm, sell copies and to publish an abstract of this thesis/practicum.

This reproduction or copy of this thesis has been made available by authority of the copyright owner solely for the purpose of private study and research, and may only be reproduced and copied as permitted by copyright laws or with express written authorization from the copyright owner.

Table of Contents

Table of Contentsi
Acknowledgementsv
Dedicationvi
List of Figuresvii
List of Abbreviationsix
Abstractxi
Chapter 1. Introduction1
1.1. Natural Killer cells1
1.2. Natural Killer cell receptor expression
1.2.1. Major Histocompatibility (MHC) Class I inhibitory receptors
1.2.2. Non-MHC inhibitory receptors
1.2.3. Activation receptors
1.3. The Missing Self Hypothesis7
1.4. Natural Killer cell receptor signalling9
1.4.1. Activation receptor signalling9
Signalling through T Cell Receptor (TCR) CD3ζ, FceRIy and DNAX-Activating
Protein of 12 kDa (DAP12)9
Lymphocyte-Specific Protein-Tyrosine Kinase (Lck) and
Fyn9

i

Spleen Tyrosine Kinase (Syk) and Zeta Chain Associated Protein of 70 kDa
(ZAP70)10
Linker For Activation (LAT) and Src Homology 2-Containing Leukocyte
Phosphoprotein of 76 kDa (SLP-76)11
Phospholipase C (PLC)-γ1 and PLC-γ211
Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1 and 2 (Erk1/2)12
Signalling through DNAX-Activating Protein of 10 kDa (DAP10)12
1.4.2. Inhibitory receptor signalling13
Src Homology 2 Domain-Containing Protein Phosphatase (SHP)-113
1.5. NK differentiation and acquisition of Self-Tolerance 16
1.5.1. NK differentiation16
1.5.2. Current models of NK Self-Tolerance
"At Least One Model"
"Arming Model"19
"Disarming Model"
1.6. Limitations in the studies of Natural Killer cell function and differentiation21
1.6.1. Problems associated with studying NK function
1.7. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)-1 based Lentiviral vectors
Molecular biology of HIV-123
Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 replication cycle24
Safety and efficiency of Lentiviral vectors
Hypothesis and Aims
Rationale27

Global hypothesis	
Specific aims	

Chapter 2. Materials and Methods

	Cell lines	29
	Natural Killer (NK) cells purification, activation and expansion in vitro	29
	Isolation of Progenitor Stem cell (PSC) and NK differentiation	.30
	Construction of vectors	31
	Virus production, titration and transduction protocols	34
	Interferon-γ production	37
	Flow cytometry	37
	⁵¹ Chromium release cytotoxicity assay	.39
	In vivo survival analysis of transduced NK cells	.39
	CD107a degranulation assay	.40
	Western blots	.40
	Carboxyfluorescein Succinimidyl Ester (CFSE) labelling	.41
	The RNAi consortium (TRC) Lentiviral shRNA library	.42
	Statistical analysis	.42
Chap	oter 3. Results	.43
3.1. L	entiviral vectors mediate stable and efficient gene delivery into primary murine	
Natur	al Killer cells	.43
	3.1.1. VSV-G pseudotyped Lentiviral vectors allow stable, efficient gene transfer and	d
	expression in primary murine NK cells	43
	3.1.2. Lentiviral transduction does not impair NK cell functions	49

3.1.3. Lentiviral vectors are able to transduce resting NK and Progenitor cells without
prior cytokine activation
3.2. Over-expression of inhibitory receptor NKR-P1B in mature NK Cells resulted in an
altered NK-target cell specificity61
3.2.1. Over-expression of NKR-P1B in murine IL-2-activated (LAK) NK cells61
3.2.2. Establishment of CD107a degranulation assay for flow cytometry analysis of NK
cytolytic activity
3.2.3. Over-expression of NKR-P1B resulted in decreased NK cell activity against Ocil-
expressing target cells
3.3. Stable silencing of SHP-1 phosphatase in mature murine NK resulted in loss of cell
viability and impaired NK functions72
3.3.1. TRC clone 28966 mediated efficient SHP-1 shutdown in EL-4 and primary murine
IL-2 activated NK cells72
3.3.2. SHP-1 shutdown impaired IL-2 induced NK cell proliferation77
3.3.3. SHP-1 silenced activated NK cells showed normal cytotoxicity towards YAC-1
targets
3.3.4. SHP-1 shutdown in mature NK cells resulted in loss of cell viability82
3.3.5. SHP-1 silenced NK cells showed increased spontaneous degranulation84
Chapter 4. Discussion
Appendix
References101

iv

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Sam Kam-Pun Kung for allowing me the opportunity to study is his laboratory. Dr. Kung took me under his wings knowing I was inexperienced and offered me great mentorship, academic guidance, supervision and support.

I would also like to thank my advisory committee members Dr. Keith Fowke and Dr. Aaron Marshall for their insights and recommendations during the course of my graduate program and while reading the present thesis.

I wish to also show my appreciation for the helpful advices and assistance I have received from my past and present laboratory colleagues: Mr. Liang Zhang, Ms. Man Li Zhang, Ms. Tielan Fang, Ms. Michele Prociuk, Ms. Lucy Yan and Ms. Melanie Blanchard. In addition, I want to acknowledge my laboratory neighbours: Mr. Stéphane Dragon, Mr. Arash Saffar, Dr. Ali Saleh, Mr. Naresh Redhu and Ms. Lianyu Shan for their priceless technical and emotional support.

The success my research project would not have been possible without reagents that were generously provide by Dr. James R. Carlyle from the University of Toronto and Open Biosystems Inc. In addition, I am indebted to the Manitoba Health Research Council (MHRC) for their generous funding support.

In closing, I would like to express my thanks to the Department of Immunology, Dr. Kent HayGlass, Dr. Patrick Choy and the support staff for providing such a friendly and professional atmosphere that encourages collaborations and top grade research.

v

DEDICATIONS

I dedicate my thesis to my father, mother, brother and sister. My father and mother work very hard to ensure that I receive the highest education possible. In addition, their wisdom and life experiences continue to help me navigate my life and career. My brother challenges me to do my best and my sister consistently cheers me up during my hardest times. It would have been impossible for me to achieve what I have achieved so far without my family's constant support and encouragement.

List of Figures

Diagram 1. Pathways involved in NK receptor signalling
Diagram 2. A model for murine NK cell development via transcription factor regulation18
Figure 1. VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors allow efficient gene transfer into purified IL-2
activated primary murine NK cells (LAK)44
Figure 2. Lentiviral vectors are capable of delivering genes other than EGFP46
Figure 3. The choice of internal promoter controls the level of transgene expression in the
transduced LAK cells
Figure 4. Lentiviral transduction does not impair surface NK receptor expression or IFN-
γ production51
Figure 5. NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and target specificity are not altered by lentiviral
transduction53
Figure 6. Transduced NK cells persist <i>in vivo</i> 55
Figure 7. Lentiviral vectors transduce freshly purified ex vivo NK cells without prior IL-2
activation
Figure 8. Efficient gene transfer in differentiating NK cells that were derived from the lentiviral
transduced murine hematopoietic progenitor cells in vitro60
Figure 9. Lentiviral-mediated over-expression of NKR-P1B in BALB/c IL-2 activated LAK
cells
Figure 10. NK CD107a degranulation directly correlates with target cell ⁵¹ Cr release during NK
cell-mediated cytotoxicity

Figure 11. NKR-P1B over-expression resulted in decreased CD107a degranulation against Ocil-
expressing targets
Figure 12. NKR-P1B over-expression resulted in decreased TNF-a expression against Ocil-
expressing targets71
Figure 13. TRC clone 28966 mediated most efficient SHP-1 shutdown in EL-4 cells74
Figure 14. TRC clone 28966 mediated efficient SHP-1 shutdown in LAK cells76
Figure 15. SHP-1 shutdown impaired IL-2-induced NK cell proliferation79
Figure 16. Down-regulation of SHP-1 protein expression in activated NK cells resulted in normal
cytotoxicity towards YAC-1 targets
Figure 17. SHP-1 shutdown in mature activated NK cells resulted in loss of cell viability83
Figure 18. SHP-1 shutdown in activated NK cells resulted in increased spontaneous
degranulation
Figure i. Schematic representation of vector genomes
Figure ii. Mature NK cells differentiated <i>in vitro</i> from hematopoietic stem cells100
Figure iii, TRC clone 65883 mediated efficient Ocil shutdown in OP9 stromal cells

List of Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome	BCR	B Cell Receptor
BM	Bone Marrow	CEBP	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein Succinimidyl Ester	DAP	DNAX-Activating Protein
DAG	Diacylglycerol	DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
EGFP	Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein	Erk	Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum	Flt3L	FMS-Like Tyrosine Kinase 3 Ligand
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus	HSC	Hematopoietic Stem Cell
KIR	Killer Cell Ig-Like Receptor	КО	Knockout
Id	Inhibitor of DNA Binding	IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin	IMDM	Isocove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium
iNK	Immature NK	IP ₃	Inositol 1,4,5-Triphosphate
IRF	Interferon Regulatory Factor	IS	Immunological Synapse
ITAM	Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-Based Activation Motif	ITIM	Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-Based Inhibitory Motif
LAK	IL-2 Activated NK	LAMP-1	Lysosomal-Associated Membrane Protein-1
LAT	Linker For Activation	Lek	Lymphocyte-Specific Protein- Tyrosine
LTR	Long Terminal Repeat	MHC	Major Histocompatibility

ix

me	Motheaten	me ^v	Motheaten Viable
MEF	Myeloid Elf Factor	MIP	Macrophage Inflammatory Protein
MOI	Multiplicity of Infection	NK	Natural Killer
NKP	NK Precursor	РКС	Protein Kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C	PIP ₂	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5- Bisphosphate
PSG	Penicillin, Streptomycin and Glutamine	РТК	Protein Tyrosine Kinase
RANTES	Regulated on Activation, Normal T Expressed and Secreted	RCMV	Rat Cytomegalovirus
RCTL	RCMV C-Type Lectin-Like	RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RPMI	Rosewell Park Memorial Institute	SCF	Stem Cell Factor
7-AAD	7-Amino Actinomycin D	SHP	Sre Homology 2 Domain- Containing Protein Phosphatase
SIN	Self-Inactivating Lentiviral Vector	SLP-76 Src Homology 2-Containing Leukocyte Phosphoprotein o kDa	
Syk	Spleen Tyrosine Kinase	T-bet	T-Cell Specific T-Box
TRC	The RNAi Consortium	TCR	T Cell Receptor
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor	TRAIL	TNF-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand
VSV-G	Vesicular Stomatitus Vesicular Protein	WRE	Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Post- Transcriptional Regulatory
ZAP70	Zeta Chain Associated Protein of 70 kDa		Liement

х

Abstract

Natural killer (NK) cells are lymphocytes that provide an important line of defense against invading microorganisms, viruses and transformed cells. They express two groups of receptors on the cell surface, activation and inhibitory. The status of NK activity depends on the balance of signals generated from both groups of receptors. Inhibitory receptors recognize self-MHC and non-MHC molecules giving them an important role in the prevention of NK-mediated autoimmunity. They signal through immunoreceptor tyrosine based inhibitory motifs (ITIM), and recruit phosphatases such as SHP-1 to inhibit NK cell activation. Although well understood in mature NK cells, the role of NK receptor signalling in differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance is currently unclear. The development of an efficient gene transfer system for genetically modifying primary mouse NK progenitors (NKPs) and mature NK cells will facilitate these studies.

In our first study, we demonstrated that human immunodeficiency virus type 1-based lentiviral vectors support an average of 40% transduction efficiency on primary NK cells. We further demonstrated efficient gene transfer into differentiating NK cells derived from the lentiviral-transduced mouse hematopoietic progenitor cells.

We then used this platform to test the **hypothesis that manipulating the balance of signals between activation and inhibitory receptors at the NK cell level will affect NK differentiation, acquisition of self-tolerance and NK-target interactions.** In these studies, we used our established lentiviral transduction protocol to either over-express the NK inhibitory receptor NKR-P1B or deliver shRNA sequences targeting the SHP-1 gene into mouse IL-2 activated NK cells.

We showed that NKR-P1B over-expression resulted in decreased cytotoxicity and cytokine production against tumour target cells expressing Ocil, the ligand for NKR-P1B. This study demonstrated the ability to alter NK-target interactions by manipulating NK receptor expression.

In addition, we demonstrated that SHP-1 shutdown in activated NK cells resulted in impaired IL-2-induced cellular proliferation, normal cytotoxicity towards YAC-1 targets, increased frequency of apoptosis and necrosis and increased spontaneous degranulation in culture. This study demonstrated an essential role of SHP-1 in mature NK, and suggested that SHP-1 may play a role in regulating self-tolerance and autoimmunity in mature NK.

xi

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Natural Killer cells

Natural killer (NK) cells represent a small population (up to 15%) of lymphocytes found in the blood and peripheral lymphoid organs, including the liver, peritoneal cavity and placenta.¹ They are part of the innate immune system and provide an important line of defense against many types of microorganisms, viruses and tumors when activated.^{2,3} NK cell activation can occur either via direct NK-target interactions or by cytokines: Interleukin (IL)-2, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, IL-21 and type I Interferons (IFN) α/β that are produced by other immune cells.⁴⁻⁶

Activated NK cells can perform two functions. One of their main functions is to mediate cytotoxicity against target cells by releasing perforin and granzymes contained within their lytic granules. NK cell cytotoxicity begins with the complex formation of an immunological synapse (IS) between the effector and the target cell.⁷ The formation of an IS allows transport of the lytic granules to the surface of the NK cell where the perforin and granzymes are delivered to the target cell to mediate cytotoxicity. The function of perforin is to allow granzymes to enter into the target cell. However, the mechanism of perforin mediated delivery of granzymes into the target cell is currently under heavy debate.^{8-11,11-15} The original model suggests that pore formation on the target cell membrane by perforin will allow the granzymes to enter the cell via the newly formed pores.^{8,10} Data, however, suggests that perforin may not be necessary for the endocytosis of granzymes.¹¹⁻¹³ A newly proposed model suggests that perforin does not act on the plasma membrane. Instead, it may act on the endosomal membrane. Granzymes are endocytosed by the target cells. Once inside the cytosol, perforin located on the cell

membrane form pores in the endosomes releasing the granzymes.^{11,14} It remains unclear, however, the mode in which perforin gains access to the endosomes in the cytosol. A third model proposes that perforin initially acts to form pores in the membrane. This will trigger a membrane repair response in which internal vesicles donate their membranes to patch the holes. Perforin and granzymes are both endocytosed into the cytosol via giant endosomes. Once in the cytosol, perforin acts to form pores in the endosomes, which will in turn release granzymes to kill target cells.¹⁵ Granzymes A and B are the most abundantly produced granzymes in NK cells.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Upon entrance into the target cell cytosol, the granzymes act to direct the cell towards apoptotic cell death.¹⁹ In all three models, the process of perforin and granzyme release (termed degranulation) is accompanied by the transport of the lysosome-associated membrane protein-1 (LAMP-1, CD107a) to the NK cell surface.²⁰ Anti-CD107a antibodies readily detect CD107a surface expression, thereby making it possible to identify NK cells that have mediated cytotoxic activity.

Besides perforin and granzyme-mediated target cell death, NK cells are also able to initiate Fas and Tumour Necrosis Factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-mediated cytotoxicity. NK cells express Fas-ligand (Fas-L) and TRAIL that bind to Fas (CD95, Apo-1) and TRAIL-receptors, respectively, expressed on target cells. Fas is a widely expressed glycosylated cell surface molecule belonging to the TNF-Receptor family involved in mediating death signals.²¹ During NK-target cell interactions, Fas-L bind to Fas resulting in Fas trimerization and activation of caspases leading to target cell apoptosis. TRAIL-induced apoptosis involves disruption of the

mitochondrial membrane potential, cytochrome c release, caspase activation and induction of DNA fragmentation.²²

In addition to cytotoxicity, NK cells are also capable of secreting cytokines and chemokines that function to activate other immune cells during an infection. For example, NK cells rapidly produce IFN- γ and TNF- α in response to bacterial infections.²³⁻²⁶ These cytokines act to amplify host innate and adaptive immune responses by maturing and activating dendritic cells, macrophages and T cells.²⁷ In addition, NK cells are known to produce chemokines such as Regulated on Activation, Normal T Expressed and Secreted (RANTES), Macrophage Inflammatory Protein (MIP)-1 α and MIP-1 β . These chemokines function to suppress viral replication.²⁸⁻³⁰

<u>1.2. Natural Killer cell receptor expression</u>

NK cells primarily circulate between the blood and peripheral lymphoid organs, constantly interacting with other cells in the host and surveying for any abnormal changes in the surface expression of "self" markers (for example, Major Histocompatibility (MHC) Class I or non-MHC Ocil), "foreign" molecules (for example, viral products) and stress-induced molecules (for example, MHC Class I related genes (MIC) A and B). They survey target cells by employing their activation and inhibitory receptors that are non-clonally expressed on the cell surface.³¹⁻³⁷

The human MHC Class I receptors are monomeric type 1 glycoproteins containing either 2 or 3 extracellular Ig-like domains and they have been referred to as killer cell Ig-like receptors (KIRs). In contrast, the mouse MHC Class I receptors are members of the Ly49 superfamily. The Ly49 proteins are expressed as disulfide-linked homodimers, and individual Ly49s are found on subsets of the total NK-cell population. The Ly49 MHC Class I receptor gene family is located on chromosome 6 in a region designated as the NK gene complex.^{38,39}

1.2.1. Major Histocompatibility (MHC) Class I inhibitory receptors

MHC Class I receptors are one type of NK cell inhibitory receptors that specifically recognize MHC Class I molecules. KIRs and Ly49 receptors represent a large class of MHC Class I receptors in human and murine NK cells, respectively. MHC Class I receptor heterodimers of CD94 and NK group 2A (NKG2A), NKG2C or NKG2E are expressed in both human and mouse NK cells.^{40,41} There are different members in each receptor family that recognize different allelic determinants on MHC Class I

molecules. It is important to note that the number of KIR, Ly49 or CD94-NKG2 receptors that are expressed varies between different individuals and mouse strains. The reason for this receptor distribution is to form different NK cell clones. Different clones will be able to react to transformed or virus infected cells that down-regulate different MHC Class I allelic determinants.⁴²

1.2.2. Non-MHC inhibitory receptors

Besides MHC Class I proteins acting as ligands for inhibitory receptors, non-MHC Class I molecules may also bind to another class of inhibitory receptors expressed by NK cells known as non-MHC inhibitory receptors. This class of receptors also play a vital role in NK cell self-tolerance. For example, the ligand for the non-MHC NK cell inhibitory receptor NKR-P1B has been identified to be the osteoclast inhibitory lectin (Ocil/Clr-b) expressed by all host hematopoietic cells.^{33,43,44} The NKR-P1B receptor is a homodimeric type II transmembrane C-type lectin-like protein conserved among rodents, humans and other mammals. This conservation across different species suggests that NKR-P1B may play an important role in innate immunity.^{45,46} This notion is further supported by studies that show down-regulation of Clr-b on many tumor cells.^{45,46} In addition, Voigt et al characterized a rat cytomegalovirus (RCMV) C-type lectin-like (RCTL) gene product with homology to Clr-b. They concluded that cells infected with RCMV would undergo down-regulation of Clr-b followed by rapid up-regulation of RCTL. This NKR-P1B-RCTL interaction prevents NK cell cytotoxicity towards RCTL infected cells. These findings reveal the important role of NKR-P1B and non-MHC inhibitory receptors in NK cell self-tolerance and immunity to infection.

1.2.3. Activation receptors

The ligands for activation receptors, in general are either "self" cellular proteins up-regulated upon infection or "non-self" viral proteins. For example, the activation receptor NKG2D recognizes MHC Class I related molecules that are often induced by cellular distress in humans and mice.^{1,47-54} Activation receptors, NKp46 and Ly49H on the other hand, recognize viral proteins such as influenza hemagglutinin and murine cytomegalovirus m157, respectively.^{55,56}

Whereas the NKR-P1B receptor is inhibitory, another member of the NKR-P1 family, NKR-P1C (NK1.1) is activating. Experiments involving the cross-linking of NKR-P1C receptors with antibodies induced redirected lysis by NK cells against otherwise resistant targets.^{31,57} Although the ligand for NKR-P1C is currently unknown, cross-linking experiments show that this receptor is activating in NK cells.

1.3. The Missing Self Hypothesis

Based on the observation that NK cells preferentially kill targets lacking MHC Class I molecules on the cell surface, Ljunggren and Karre proposed that NK cells recognize and eliminate cells that lack Class I.^{38,58} Inhibitory receptors were immediately speculated to exist during initial NK cell studies because they were observed to preferentially kill targets that lacked MHC Class I expression. It was originally believed that any cell lacking MHC Class I expression was automatically prone to NK cell activity. This belief falls apart when analyzing NK cell activity against erythrocytes, which in humans do not express MHC Class I. In addition, host cells expressing low levels of MHC Class I are spared NK cell activity.⁵⁹

The discovery of NK activation receptors helps to explain the mechanisms employed by NK cells to recognize potential targets. Why are some cells that do not express or express low levels of MHC Class I spared while other cells that express normal levels of MHC Class I attacked? It appears that NK cells do not rely specifically on inhibitory or activation receptors alone. NK cell activity is determined by a balance of signals generated from engagement of both inhibitory and activation receptors.⁶⁰⁻⁶³

Normal cells predominately express ligands for inhibitory receptors leading to attenuation of NK cell activity.⁶⁴ Infected cells on the other hand may down-regulate inhibitory self-ligands in an attempt to evade detection by the host adaptive immune system.⁶⁵ In many infection scenarios, down-regulation of inhibitory self-ligands in combination with up-regulation of activating ligands leads to an activation of NK cell activity. In other infection scenarios, however, viruses and tumours have evolved mechanisms to evade NK cell detection. For example, HIV-1 infected cells maintain self-

MHC expression (Human Leukocyte Antigen – C) and fail to express any activation ligands.⁶⁶ Therefore, it is obvious that infected cells evade NK cell activity by skewing the balance towards inhibition.

1.4. Natural Killer cell receptor signalling

1.4.1. Activation receptor signalling

Both NK cell inhibitory and activation receptor signalling pathways are similar to signalling pathways found in T and B lymphocytes.^{38,59,67} NK activation receptors in particular signal through pathways similar to T and B cell antigen receptors (TCR and BCR). There are many complex pathways involved in NK cell receptor signalling. For simplicity, I have chosen to discuss only a few selected signalling molecules that directly relate to my studies.

Signalling through T Cell Receptor (TCR) CD3ζ, FcεRIγ and DNAX-Activating Protein of 12 kDa (DAP12)

Similar to TCRs and BCRs, NK activation receptors themselves do not contain cytoplasmic signalling domains but instead, they signal through small adaptor proteins. For example, NKp46 signals through TCR CD3ζ and FcεRIγ while mouse NKG2D and activating Ly49s can signal through DAP12.⁶⁸⁻⁷³ The cytoplasmic tail of these adaptor proteins contains a single Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-based Activation Motif (ITAM). An ITAM (consensus sequence YxxI/Lx(6-8)YxxI/L) contains two phosphorylatable tyrosines that are configured precisely for the binding of the dual Src Homology 2 (SH2) domains of the Spleen Tyrosine Kinase (Syk)/Zeta Chain Associated Protein of 70 kDa (ZAP70) kinases.⁷⁴

Lymphocyte-Specific Protein-Tyrosine Kinase (Lck) and Fyn

The phosphorylation of the dual tyrosine residues on ITAM is accomplished by the actions of Src family protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs), Lck and Fyn.⁷⁵ Lck and Fyn

are 56 and 59 kDa proteins, respectively. Structurally, they both contain an SH3 domain, an SH2 domain, a catalytic tyrosine kinase domain and a C-terminal negative regulatory domain. Lck and Fyn are regulated by their C-terminal negative regulatory domain. When the cell is in a normal resting state, this domain is not phosphorylated. It is believed that Lck and Fyn transphosphorylate their activation loop tyrosines upon receptor engagement and subsequent clustering of the ITAMs. It is the phosphorylation of the activation loop that triggers Lck and Fyn to phosphorylate the SH2 domains on ITAMs.

Spleen Tyrosine Kinase (Syk) and Zeta Chain Associated Protein of 70 kDa (ZAP70)

Syk and ZAP70 are next recruited as a result of ITAM phosphorylation. Syk and ZAP70 are 72 and 70 kDa proteins, respectively.⁷⁶ Structurally, they both contain an N-terminal SH2, a COOH-terminal SH2 and a catalytic tyrosine kinase domain. Upon binding to phosphorylated ITAM via the SH2 domains, Syk and ZAP70 are themselves phosphorylated and activated. However, there is current evidence that suggests different requirements for Syk and ZAP70 activation.⁷⁷⁻⁸⁰ ZAP70 activation also requires Lck and Fyn kinase activity. Syk on the other hand, has been shown to initiate killing in the absence of Src family PTK costimulation.⁷⁹ In addition, evidence suggests that Syk, but not ZAP70, can itself phosphorylate the two tyrosine residues in the ITAM in a Src family PTK-independent manner.^{78,80,81}

Although both Syk and ZAP70 kinases are expressed in NK cells,^{82,83} studies on Ly49D/DAP12 engagement show that Syk, but not ZAP70, was phosphorylated.⁸³ A dominant negative form of Syk but not ZAP70 was able to suppress Ly49D signalling

and a pharmacological inhibitor of Syk activity, showed inhibited NK cytotoxicity.⁸⁴ Taken together, these studies suggest that mainly Syk is responsible for mediating further downstream events during Ly49D/DAP12 receptor signalling.

Linker For Activation (LAT) and Src Homology 2-Containing Leukocyte Phosphoprotein of 76 kDa (SLP-76)

Upon activation Syk/ZAP70 acts to recruit downstream adaptors such as LAT and SLP-76.⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷ LAT and SLP-76 are 36-38 kDa and 76 kDa proteins, respectively.^{88,89} LAT contains an SH3 domain, an SH2 domain and nine to ten tyrosine phosphorylation motifs⁹⁰ while SLP-76 contains an SH3 domain, an SH2 domain, an SH2 domain, and three tyrosine phosphorylation motifs.⁸⁸ These proteins however, do not contain any intrinsic catalytic activity. Their role is to act as an adaptor, integrating signals resulting from receptor engagement.^{91,92} LAT and SLP-76 interact with Syk/ZAP70 via their SH2 domains and become activated when Syk/ZAP70 phosphorylates their tyrosine motifs. Activated LAT and SLP-76 come together at the membrane and acts to recruit the second line of effector/adaptor molecules involved in NK signalling.

Phospholipase C (PLC)-y1 and PLC-y2

The second line of effector/adaptor molecules includes PLC- γ 1 and PLC- γ 2. PLC- γ 1 and PLC- γ 2 have one SH3 and two SH2 domains sandwiched between two catalytic domains.⁹³ They interact with LAT and SLP-76 via their SH3 and SH2 domains. The exact mechanism in which PLC becomes phosphorylated is not known but it has been shown to involve Syk/ZAP70 kinase activity. Activated PLC functions to catalyze the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) into diacylglycerol (DAG)

and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃). IP₃ promotes Ca^{+2} mobilization and DAG along with mobilized Ca^{+2} activates Protein Kinase C (PKC).

Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1 and 2 (Erk1/2)

DAG and activated PKC goes on to activate Erk1/2 but the mechanism of Erk1/2 activation in NK cells is currently unclear.³⁸ Erk1/2 is a member of the Mitogen Activated Protein Kinases (MAPKs) family with a molecular weight of 41-45 kDa.⁸³ Activated Erk1/2 is believed to activate transcription factors responsible for NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine production. However, this is also completely unknown.³⁸

Signalling through DNAX-Activating Protein of 10 kDa (DAP10)

Although the majority of activating NK receptors utilize small adaptor proteins and ITAM to transmit activating signals, NK obtained from ZAP70-/- and Syk-/- mice are able still able to kill certain tumour cell lines. This suggests the possible existence of activating receptors that transmit signals independent of ZAP70 and Syk. NKG2D is an activating receptor that signals independent of ZAP70 and Syk. The expression of NKG2D on the NK cell surface requires a transmembrane-anchored adaptor protein named DAP10. Recall that mouse NKG2D expression may also utilize DAP12.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶ The cytoplasmic domain of DAP10 contains a YxxM motif that upon phosphorylation binds to the p85 subunit of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K). Activated PI3K is also capable of activating PLC. Therefore, the TCR CD3ζ, FcεRIγ, DAP10 and DAP12 signalling pathways ultimately converge to activate PLC followed by Erk1/2 activation.

1.4.2. Inhibitory receptor signalling

Unlike activation receptors that rely on adaptor proteins for signalling, inhibitory receptors express signalling domains in their cytoplasmic tails. KIRs, Ly49s, CD94-NKG2s and non-MHC inhibitory receptors all contain an Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-based Inhibitory Motif (ITIM) in their cytoplasmic portion.^{38,97-100} The ITIM (consensus sequence V/IxYxxL/V) contains one tyrosine residue that is phosphorylated by activated Lck upon receptor engagement and ITIM clustering.

Src Homology 2 Domain-Containing Protein Phosphatase (SHP)-1

SHP-1 is recruited to the phosphorylated ITIM and functions to inhibit NK activity.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁷ Although the exact role and targets of SHP-1 in murine NK are unclear, work in human KIR suggests mechanisms similar to T cell signalling. After recruitment to phosphorylated ITIM, activated SHP-1 works to dephosphorylate LAT and PLCγ in NK cells.¹⁰⁸ SHP-1 may also target the dephosphorylation of SLP-76, ZAP-70 and Syk.^{91,109,110} The general consensus is that SHP-1 functions to inactivate early signalling molecules involved in NK activation.

The importance of SHP-1 in the inhibition of NK activity has been demonstrated. Experiments involving the over-expression of a catalytically inactive dominant negative form of SHP-1 (dnSHP-1) in human and murine NK cells resulted in decreased MHC-Class I mediated inhibition of cytotoxicity.^{103,111} In addition, motheaten (*me*) and motheaten viable (me^{ν}) mice that show complete or partial SHP-1 enzymatic activity loss display diminished ability for Ly49A to inhibit NK activity.¹¹² In addition, these mice contain hyperphosphorylated Src family kinases, ITAMs and LAT.^{113,114} Taken together,

these studies suggest that SHP-1 is a very important molecule in NK cell inhibition. Disruption of SHP-1 enzymatic activity ultimately results in disruption of all inhibitory signalling in NK cells.

However, results from dnSHP-1 or SHP-1 knockout (KO) mice suffered from a couple of caveats. For example, wild SHP-1 enzymatic activity may still exist in dnSHP-1 NK cells. As a result, the competition between wild type and dnSHP-1 might produce unwanted side effects in the NK cells. Also, NK cells isolated from SHP-1 KO mice may be suffering from secondary effects due to over-activated macrophages/monocytes.^{115,116} Therefore, it remains to be determined whether the effects associated with a loss of SHP-1 function in the dnSHP-1 and SHP-1 KO NK cells represented true functions of SHP-1 enzymatic activity or simply a summation of secondary effects. In addition, studying the mature NK cells from these animals cannot distinguish whether the observed "abnormality" is associated with a defect in SHP-1 signalling at the differentiation state or mature NK cell or both.



Diagram 1. Pathways involved in NK receptor signalling. Activation receptor engagement results in ITAM phosphorylation by Lck/Fyn. Syk/ZAP70 is recruited to the phosphorylated ITAM and is itself phosphorylated. This is followed by recruitment of LAT/SLP-76 and PLC γ . Syk/ZAP70 kinase activity phosphorylates PLC γ . Activated PLC γ hydrolyze PIP₂ into IP₃ and DAG. IP₃ causes Ca⁺² mobilization while DAG activates PKC. Ca⁺², PKC and DAG activate Erk1/2. Activated Erk1/2 goes on to activate transcription factors required for NK cytotoxicity and cytokine production. Inhibitory receptor engagement results in phosphorylation of ITIM and activation of SHP-1. Activated SHP-1 phosphatase activity works to inactive Syk/ZAP70, LAT/SLP-76 and PLC γ . This results in attenuation of NK activity.

1.5. NK differentiation and acquisition of Self-Tolerance

1.5.1. NK differentiation

NK cells are derived from hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in the bone marrow (BM) and acquire different maturation states as they develop.^{117,118} There are six stages of NK cell development, termed stages A to F.¹¹⁹ Each developmental stage is characterized by requirements for additional growth factors, expression of new cell surface molecules and activation of essential transcription factors.

HSCs enter into stage A of NK development in the presence of IL-7, stem cell factor (SCF) and FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3L).¹²⁰ Cells in stage A of development are known as NK precursors (NKPs). Cells at the NKP stage are lineage negative (Lin⁻) and express only CD122 (IL-2R β).¹²¹ Transcription factors activated at stage A include Ikaros, Inhibitor of DNA Binding (Id)2, Ets-1 and PU.1. These transcription factors are essential in the generation of normal NK numbers *in vivo*. In particular, Id2 and Ikaros are responsible for inducing expression of CD122 required for IL-15 responses.^{122,123}

Cells in stage B and stage C of NK development are termed immature NKs (iNKs). NKPs need IL-15 in order to progress to stage B.¹²⁰ At stage B, iNK cells express NK1.1 and CD94-NKG2. These iNK however, remain poorly cytotoxic. Interaction of stage B iNKs with stromal cells move them into Stage C of development.¹²⁰ Stage C iNKs are defined by the expression of Ly49 receptors. Transcription factors activated at Stage C include Gata-3, T-cell Specific T-box (T-bet) and Interferon Regulatory Factor (IRF)-2. These transcription factors appear to be important in NK cell maturation in the BM and migration to the periphery.¹¹⁹

When development enters into stage D, the cells are termed mature NK (mNK) and this is characterized by the expression of integrin CD49b (DX5). As NK cells begin to mature functionally and enter stage E of development, integrin CD11b is up-regulated. The final stage of NK development, stage F is characterized by the up-regulation of sialoglycoprotein CD43. Transcription factors myeloid elf factor (MEF), microphthalmiaassociated transcription factor (MITF) and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (CEBP)- γ appear to be important at stage F. Deficiencies in MEF and CEBP- γ resulted in a decrease of both lysis of sensitive target cells and IFN- γ secretion suggesting their importance in NK cytotoxicity and cytokine production. Indeed, MEF interacts with the perforin gene promoter, providing a mechanism to explain the cytolytic defect.¹²⁴

NK cells that successfully go through all six stages of development are exported to peripheral sites via the blood where they can mediate cytotoxicity and cytokine production after stimulation.¹²⁵

Taken together, some aspects of NK development are well known. For example, we know the growth factors required, surface receptors expressed and transcription factors activated at each stage. However, the roles played by each receptor at various stages of development are still unclear. Besides CD122 that is required for IL-15 responses, are the other receptors required for NK differentiation? More importantly, the role of these receptors in NK cell acquisition of self-tolerance is currently unknown. In particular, what are the consequences of altering the normal receptor profile by either over-expressing or down-regulating particular receptors? These questions remain to be answered.

	NKP	iN	IK		mNK	
Stage	A	В	С	D	Е	F
CD122	+	·+	+	+	÷	+
NKG2D	+	+	+	+	+	+
NK1.1		+	+	÷	+	+
CD94	-		· +	+	+	+
Ly49	-		+	+	÷	+
DX5	·		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	+	+ .	+
CD11β	?	?	lo	lo	hi	hi
CD43	?	?	lo	lo	lo	hi
Lytic	_			+*	÷	+
IFN-γ	-		?	+*	+	+
				\sim		$\overline{\Box}$
Transcription Ikaros factors Id2 Ets-1		aros d2 is-1	Gata-: If	3 [′] T-bet RF-2		MĖF MITF CEBP-γ
Adapted from Current Opinion in Immunolog					n Immunology	

Diagram 2. A model for murine NK cell development via transcription factor regulation. The earliest NK precursors (NKPs) differentiate via immature NKs (iNKs) to mature NKs (mNKs). Markers characterizing each stage are listed. Note that the iNK stage is subdivided on the basis of Ly49 expression, and that the mNK stage is subdivided on the basis of differential expression of CD11b and CD43. Immature NK cells are nonlytic, whereas mNKs are lytic. Transcription factors controlling the different stages are indicated. +, expressed; -, not expressed; hi and lo, indicate expression levels; ?, not known. Figure adapted from Vosshenrich C, Samson-Villeger S and Di Santo J. **Current Opinion in Immunology** 2005, **17**:151-158.

1.5.2. Current models of NK Self-Tolerance

Two models have been proposed to explain how NK cells acquire self-tolerance during differentiation. However, the underlying molecular mechanism remains unknown.

"At Least One Model"

The "At Least One Model," predicts that NK cells only need as few as one receptor to develop self-tolerance. Just as long as the inhibitory signalling from that one receptor is enough to override the summation of activating signals, self-tolerance will be achieved.¹²⁶ A study involving the panel of human NK cell clones from two donors with different HLA haplotypes supported this model. Each clone expressed one or more receptors for the donor's HLA Class I molecules.¹²⁷

"Arming Model"

The "Arming Model," predicts that NK cells become self-tolerant by engaging their inhibitory receptors with MHC Class I during differentiation. The main idea of this model is that self-tolerance requires the ability to mediate inhibitory signalling. This model is supported by studies involving MHC Class I-deficient mice. The NK cells isolated from these mice were abundant in numbers and non-self reactive. However, these cells showed reduced cytotoxicity and cytokine production against tumour cell targets.¹²⁸⁻

¹³⁰ The authors suggested that NK cells could achieve self-tolerance by one of two methods. The first method is to express inhibitory receptors for self-MHC. The second method, as seen in MHC Class I-deficient mice, is to become functionally incompetent. Because they are not fully functional, there is no need for NK cells to express any inhibitory receptors.²

"Disarming Model"

The "Disarming Model," is very similar to the "Arming Model" in that they both acknowledge the need for inhibitory signalling in order for the NK cells to become self-tolerant. The "Disarming Model," however, also recognizes the need for activation signals. The model proposes that during differentiation, the activation receptors are constantly exposed to their respective ligands that are expressed at low levels on self-cells. This persistent stimulation forces NK cells to enter a hyporesponsive state.^{37,131-133} NK cells can break this hyporesponsive state by engaging their inhibitory receptors with MHC Class I. The main idea of the "Disarming Model" is that self-tolerance is achieved by balancing inhibitory signals with activation signals. Just as long as they are in balance during differentiation, NK cells become self-tolerant.¹³⁴

1.6. Limitations in the studies of Natural Killer cell function and differentiation

1.6.1. Problems associated with studying NK function

As mentioned earlier, there are many questions that remain to be answered regarding NK differentiation, acquisition of self-tolerance and NK-target interactions. This is in part due to lack of experimental systems that allow us to differentially study a protein's function(s) in primary NK progenitors, resting and activated primary NK cells. The major challenge in genetically engineering primary NK cells is to introduce stable genetic modification of NK cells efficiently under minimal in vitro manipulation, and without any impairment in cellular viability, phenotype or functions. To escalate the problem, NK cells are relatively resistant to exogenous gene transfer. Presently, there are limited reported successes in the transduction of genetic materials into primary IL-2 activated NK (LAK) cells.¹³⁵⁻¹⁴⁴ Vaccinia vectors,^{136,138} chimeric adenoviral vectors¹⁴⁵ or plasmid electroporation^{142,146} have been used to introduce transgene(s) into these LAK cells. However, given the transient nature of these viral infections and plasmid electroporation, these techniques are limited to short-term experiments.^{136,138,142,146} Retroviral vectors offer a complementary strategy to the existing methods because of their ability to integrate into host genome for stable gene expression.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁴⁹ Transduction of human LAK cells with retroviral vectors have been described.^{135,143} However, the apparent reliance on NK cell activation (such as IL-2, IL-15) and repeated infections during retroviral vector transduction might not be desirable in studying the molecular events involved in NK cell activation or tolerance induction during NK development because of the pleiotropic effects of IL-2 receptor signalling.¹⁵⁰

An additional limitation in studying NK cell function and differentiation is the apparent functional redundancy revealed in the existing KO models. A number of KO mice that are deficient in key signal transducers (for example, Lck) show a dramatic phenotype in T cell function but not in NK cells.¹⁵¹ It may therefore be necessary to knockout multiple genes at the same time to reveal the role of a particular signalling pathway in NK cell differentiation and function. In addition, NK cells isolated from KO mice represent a final endpoint of the direct and indirect effects of the inactivation of the target genes that occur during the mouse development. To further complicate these limitations, available knockout mice models are sometimes lethal. For example, motheaten SHP-1 knockout (*me*) and SHP-1 inactive (*me*^{ν}) mice suffer from chronic infection and die between 1 to 3 months of age.¹¹¹ NK cells isolated from these *me* and *me*^{ν} mice show pleiotropic changes, possibly due to over-activated myeloid cells.

1.7. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)-1 based Lentiviral vectors

An ideal gene delivery system for primary NK cells should confer both efficient gene delivery and a stable phenotype without affecting cell immunophenotype or functions (cytokine production and cytotoxicity). Efficient gene delivery involves the successful import of the gene into the cell nuclei and a stable phenotype requires the delivered gene to incorporate into the host genome. These two criteria allow the vector to persist and remain active in the modified cells and their progeny.

The replication cycle of HIV-1 makes its vector an ideal candidate for use as a gene delivery system for primary NK cells. Similar to retroviral vectors, replication-incompetent human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (HIV-1) based lentiviral vectors have the ability to integrate into the host genome.¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴ Lentiviral vectors, however, are advantageous over retroviral vectors because lentiviral vectors are able to transduce non-dividing cells¹⁵⁴⁻¹⁵⁶ while retroviral vectors require active proliferation of the target cells for integration.¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁷ Therefore, the ability of lentiviral vectors to integrate into the host genome without the need for active cell proliferation renders them an ideal gene therapy vector for efficient and stable gene delivery into progenitor, resting and activated NK cells.

Molecular biology of HIV-1

The HIV-1 virion is round in shape with a diameter of approximately 100 nm. The viral core contains two copies of 9-kilobase single-stranded Ribonucleic Acid (RNA) and RNA-dependent Deoxyribonucleic Acid (DNA) polymerase (reverse transcriptase).¹⁵⁸ Surrounding the viral core is a bilayer envelope containing
glycoproteins that are encoded by the viral gene, *env. Env* encodes a precursor protein, gp160 that is cleaved into glycoproteins gp120 and gp41.¹⁵⁹ In addition to structural genes, the accessory genes: Transcriptional Transactivator (*tat*), Regulator of Virus Protein Expression (*rev*), Negative Factor (*nef*), Viral Protein R (*vpr*), Virion Infectivity Factor (*vif*) and Viral Protein U (*vpu*) are also expressed by HIV-1.¹⁵⁸ These accessory genes play important roles in the viral life cycle. For example, *tat* up-regulates all viral proteins while *rev* facilitates export of viral mRNAs to the cytoplasm. *Nef* and *vif* are both known to enhance viral infectivity while *vpu* enhances viral particle release from infected cells. Lastly, *vpr* enhances nuclear import of viral genomic material.

Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 replication cycle

HIV-1 infects target cells by fusing its viral envelope with the target cell membrane. This is accomplished by the binding of HIV-1 gp120 glycoproteins with target cell CD4 surface receptor and chemokine receptors CCR5 and CXCR4.¹⁵⁸ These receptors are expressed on a subset of helper T lymphocytes and on monocytes/macrophages. After fusion of the viral envelope with the target cell membrane, the viral core enters the cell cytoplasm. Once in the cytoplasm, the two single-stranded RNAs are reverse transcribed into double-stranded DNA. The doublestranded DNA is then transported into the nucleus where it is integrated into the host genome. The integrated viral DNA will persist for the entire remaining lifespan of the infected cell. In addition, any daughter cells resulting from cell division will also contain a copy of the viral genome. New HIV-1 virions are produced when the viral DNA is

transcribed into single-stranded RNA and packaged into the viral core and bilayer envelope. The virions are then released to infect other cells.

Safety and efficiency of Lentiviral vectors

Because of the pathogenicity of the parental virus, the safety of using HIV-1 based lentiviral vectors for a gene therapy application is a major concern.¹⁶⁰ As a result, many measures have been developed to make HIV-1 based lentiviral vectors safe for gene therapy. For example, viral components were segregated into three separate plasmids and the sequence overlap between them was minimized to reduce the possibility of recombination.^{161,162} Another measure taken was the pseudotyping of the HIV-1 vector envelope (*env*) gene with a vesicular stomatitus vesicular protein (VSV-G). This involves expressing the VSV-G vector separate from the gene transfer vector construct. Besides a wider host range, VSV-G pseudotyping eliminates the possibility of generating contaminating replication-competent virus through recombination.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁵

Another measure taken to improve the safety of HIV-1 based lentiviral vectors is the elimination of all accessory genes (*tat, rev, nef, vpr, vif* and *vpu*) that are not essential for cell transduction from a packaging construct.^{160,163} Deletion of these genes greatly improves safety because accessory genes have been associated with a majority of HIV pathologies. For example, *vpr* is known to cause cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. In addition, *vpr* is suspected to be a cause of T-cell dysfunction in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) patients.¹⁶⁶

To further improve the system, transcriptional elements of HIV-1 were removed from the vector. The 3' long terminal repeat (LTR) is required for the production of full-

length vector RNA in transduced cells. Therefore, deletions in the 3' LTR of the selfinactivating lentiviral vectors (SIN) lead to the abolishment of the promoter activity of the HIV-1 LTR. As a result, recombination, insertional oncogenesis and unwanted vector mobilization in the transduced cells is further eliminated.¹⁶⁰

Besides improving the safety of HIV-1 based lentiviral vectors for use in gene therapy applications, progress has also been made in the improvement in the efficiency and stability of transgene expression in the transduced cells. For example, the incorporation of a central polypurine tract enhanced the import of the vector into the nuclei of transduced cells.¹⁶⁷

Safe, efficient and stable lentiviral vector mediated gene delivery will aid to demonstrate the effects of manipulating the balance in NK signalling between engagement of activation and inhibitory receptors at both the NK differentiation and mature NK levels.

HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

Rationale

Multiple activation and inhibitory receptors are expressed on mature NK cells and their progenitors. It remains unclear how NK cell receptor signalling influences NK differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance. The ability to manipulate NK signalling pathways will allow us to study the role of these molecules in defining the NK cell receptor repertoire and the acquisition of target recognition specificity.

Global hypothesis

The balance of signals between activation and inhibitory receptors will affect NK differentiation, acquisition of self-tolerance and NK-target interactions. The same receptor signalling may have different outcomes depending on the differentiation status of NK cells.

Specific aims

- 1. To develop a protocol for efficient lentiviral-mediated *ex vivo* gene delivery into resting/non-proliferating and activated NK cells.
- To develop a protocol for efficient lentiviral-mediated *ex vivo* gene delivery into NK progenitors.
 - i. To drive transduced NK progenitors to differentiation into NK cells using an *in vitro* cytokine cocktail.
 - To differentiate transduced NK progenitors into NK cells by adoptive transfer into RAG2-/-γc-/- immunodeficient mice.

- To determine if over-expressing an NK cell inhibitory receptor, NKR-P1B in mature BALB/c IL-2 activated (LAK) NK cells would skew the balance of receptor signalling leading to an altered NK-target cell specificity.
- To determine if silencing an inhibitory signalling molecule, SHP-1 in mature C57BL/6 LAK NK cells would dampen the inhibitory signalling pathway resulting in an altered NK-target cell specificity.

CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell lines

293T cells used for virus production and titration were cultured in Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium (IMDM) (HyClone, Logan, Utah) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (HyClone) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin/glutamate (PSG) (Gibco, Grand Island, NY). BWZ and BWZ-Ocil cell lines were cultured in IMDM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% PSG and 1.6 mM 2-mercaptoethanol (2-ME) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). YAC-1, P815 and EL-4 cell lines were cultured in Rosewell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 (HyClone) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% PSG, and 1.6 mM/l 2-ME. Daudi cell line was cultured in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% PSG.

Natural Killer (NK) cells purification, activation and expansion in vitro

C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice were purchased from Animal Care Services (The University of Manitoba). RAG2-/- and RAG2-/-γc-/- immunodeficient mice were kindly provided by Hergen Spits and Kees Weijer (University Medical Center, Utrecht, The Netherlands). The University of Manitoba's Review Board has approved all animal studies. Splenocytes were obtained from homogenized spleen by gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque PLUS (GE Healthcare, Sweden) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Next, NK cells were purified by one of two protocols. 1) Splenocytes were purified by complement depletion of T and NKT lymphocytes by adding Anti-Mouse CD-90 (Thy 1.2) Monoclonal Antibody and Low-Tox-M Rabbit Complement. Cell debris from complement depletion was removed using Lympholyte-M Separation Medium.

Antibody, complement proteins and Lympholyte-M were all used according to manufacturer's protocol (Cedarlane, Hornby, ON). Next, NK cells were purified with EasySep Mouse panNK Positive Selection Kit (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, BC) with slight modifications to their protocol to improve yield. The time allowed for the centrifuge tube to remain in the magnet was increased from 5 minutes to 10 minutes. 2) NK cells were enriched with EasySep Mouse NK Enrichment Kit (StemCell Technologies) according to manufacturer's protocol. In experiments that required proliferating or activated cells, purified NK cells were incubated in 24 well culture plates at a concentration of 1×10^6 cells/ml/well. Cells were incubated in supplemented RPMI 1640 (10% FBS, 1% PSG, 1.6 mM 2-ME) containing 1000 units/ml of IL-2 (except indicated otherwise) (obtained from the AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Disease, National Institutes of Health, contributed by M. Gatley, Hoffman-LaRoche, Nutley, NJ) at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

Isolation of Progenitor Stem cell (PSC) and NK differentiation

Bone marrow cells were obtained from C57BL/6 or RAG2-/- mice. Progenitor stem cells were enriched with EasySep Mouse Progenitor Stem Cell Negative Selection kit (StemCell Technologies). Transduction was conducted immediately after enrichment of progenitor stem cells using the spin protocol. 0.3 x 10⁶ PSCs were placed into each well of a 48 well culture plate (BD Falcon, Franklin Lakes, NJ). After transduction, viruscontaining supernatant was removed. PSCs differentiation into NK cells was conducted by one of two methods. 1) The transduced progenitor stem cells were cultured in NK

differentiation conditioned medium¹⁶⁸ (RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% PSG, 1.6 mM 2-ME, 0.5 ng/ml of mIL-7, 30 ng/ml of Stem Cell Factor (SCF), and 50 ng/ml Flt3L. On day 3 after transduction, 0.5 ml of fresh media was added. On day 5, cells were pelleted, old media was removed, and cultured in 0.5 ml of complete RPMI media containing 30 ng/ml of IL-15 (All cytokines were purchased from Peprotech Inc, Rocky Hill, NJ). On day 8, 0.5 ml of fresh media was added. On day 10, old media was replaced with fresh media containing 30 ng/ml of IL-15 and 1000 U/ml of IL-2. On day 14, differentiated NK cells were surface stained for NK markers and analyzed immediately in flow cytometry. 2) The transduced PSCs (0.7 x 10^6), were injected intravenously into RAG2-/- γ c-/- mice¹⁶⁹ that had received a total body irradiation of 200 Rad. Peripheral blood was obtained 4 weeks after the adoptive transfer. Cells were surface stained for NK markers and analyzed immediately in flow cytometry. EGFP⁺ NK cells were identified in CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ populations.

Construction of vectors

pRRL-PGK-EGFP-SIN18¹⁶⁰, PGK-C in short (appendix figure i), was derived from pRRL-PGK-EGFP¹⁷⁰ and pHR-CMV-LacZ-SIN18. To generate pHR-CMV-LacZ-SIN18, A *KpnI-Xba*I fragment containing the polypurine tract and the 3' LTR was excised from a pHR plasmid and subcloned into the corresponding sites of pUC18. This plasmid was digested completely with *Eco*RV and partially with *Pvu*II and self-ligated. A plasmid carrying a 400-nucleotide-long deletion of U3 was recovered. An *Xho*I linker was inserted in the *Eco*RI site of the deletion plasmid, and an *XhoI-Xba*I fragment was cloned back into the pHR-CMV-LacZ plasmid digested with the corresponding enzymes. pRRL-

PGK-EGFP-SIN18 was generated by replacing the 590-bp *Eco*RI-*AfI*II fragment from pRRL-PGK-GFP with the 200-bp *Eco*RI-*AfI*II fragment from pHR-CMV-lacZ-SIN-18 in a four-part ligation with a 2.95-kb *AfI*II fragment, a 2.8-kb *AfI*II-*Bam*HI fragment, and a 760-bp *Bam*HI-*Eco*RI fragment from pRRL-PGK-GFP.

FUGW¹⁷¹ (appendix figure i) was based on a self-inactivating (SIN) vector that was derived from pHR-MCS.¹⁵³ pHR-MCS was constructed by replacing a 420-bp *Bam*HI-*Xho*I fragment of pHR with a fragment of multiple cloning sites containing *Bam*HI, *Eco*47III, *Bst*XI, *Sac*II, *Pst*I, *Eco*RI, *Cla*I, *Xba*I, *Hpa*I, and *Xho*I sites. PCR amplification products of pHR-MCS, a *Bsp*EI-*Apa*I (8 to +180) fragment, were cloned into pcDNA3.1/Zeo(+) (Invitrogen) between the *Mlu*I and *Apa*I sites to generate pHIV-SIN (numbers in parentheses indicate positions relative to the transcriptional start site). FUGW was generated from pHR-MCS by incorporating a human ubiquitin-C internal promoter to drive the GFP reporter gene. The woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory element (WRE) was inserted downstream of GFP to increase the level of transcription. To increase the titre of the virus, the human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1) flap element was inserted between the 5' LTR and the human ubiquitin-C internal promoter.

TRIP-GFP¹⁶⁷ (appendix figure i) was derived from pHR-CMV-LacZ. The EGFP gene replaced LacZ reporter gene. EGFP gene was amplified by PCR using Pfu polymerase from pEGFP-N1 plasmid, adding *Bam*HI and *Xho*I restriction sites in 5' and 3', respectively. PCR primer were as follows: *Bam* GFP, 5' CC GGATCC CCA CCG GTC GCC ACC 3'; *Xho* GFP, 5' CC CTCGAG CTA GAG TCG CGG CCG 3'. pHR-GFP vector was constructed by cloning back this PCR fragment into *Bam*HI and *Xho*I

sites of pHR-CMV-LacZ, replacing the LacZ ORF by EGFP. A 178 bp fragment of pLAI3 (4793 to 4971), encompassing Cppt and CTS, was amplified by PCR. *Nar*I restriction sites were added in 5' of the primer in the aim to insert this fragment into the unique *Cla*I site of pHR-GFP: *Nar* TRIP⁺, 5' GTC GTC GGCGCC GAATTC ACA AAT GGC AGT ATT CAT CC 3'; *Nar* TRIP⁻, 5' GTC GTC GGCGCC CCA AAG TGG ATC TCT GCT GTC C 3'. Insertion of this flap sequence in the correct orientation gave rise to the TRIP-GFP plasmid vector.

pSIN-18-cppt-RhMLV-E,¹⁷² Cppt-2E in short (appendix figure i), was derived from pRRL-PGK-EGFP-SIN18 and pCS-Rh-MLV-E (which was derived from pCS-Rh-MLV Δ -E). To make pCS-MLV Δ -E, pCSCG¹⁵³ was digested with *Eco*RI, filled in with Klenow fragments, and digested with *Nhe*I to liberate a 500-bp fragment that contains the CMV promoter. The resulting 8-kb fragment was then ligated to an ~950-bp fragment of pBS-MLV-EM. The latter fragment was prepared by digesting pBS-MLV-EM with BstXI, filling in with Klenow fragments, and digesting with SpeI. To generate pCS-Rh-MLV-E, two intermediate constructs (pCS-CMV-IRES-EGFP and pCS-Rh-MLV∆-IRES-EGFP) were made. For pCS-CMV-IRES-EGFP, pSRaIRES-EGFP was digested with BgIII, filled in with Klenow fragments, and digested with EcoRI to liberate an ~1.4kb fragment that contained the IRES-EGFP gene sequence. This 1.4-kb fragment was then cloned into the *Hpa*I and *Eco*RI sites of pCS.¹⁷³ For pCS-Rh-MLVΔ-IRES-EGFP, pCS-Rh-MLV Δ -E was digested with *Xho*I, filled in with Klenow fragments, and then digested with BamHI to liberate an ~900-bp fragment that contained the Rh-MLV LTR. This DNA fragment was ligated to the Eco47III and BamHI sites of the pCS-IRES-EGFP vector. pCS-Rh-MLV-E was then constructed by cloning a ~1.7-kb fragment of pBS-

MSV-EM (*Spe*I digested, filled in with Klenow fragments, and *Xho*I digested) into the *Hpa*I and *Xho*I sites of pCS-Rh-MLV-Δ-IRES-EGFP. To generate pSIN-18-cppt-RhMLV-E, an ~600-bp fragment (which contains the housekeeping phosphoglycerate kinase [PGK] promoter) of pRRL-PGK-EGFP-SIN18 was liberated by *Eco*RV and *Age*I. The resulting vector fragment was then ligated to the ~1.4kb fragment of CS-Rh-MLV-E (*Sac*II digested, blunted by T4 polymerase, and *Age*I digested) that contains the Rh-MLV promoter and the partial *gag* sequence of MoMLV.

Cppt-DC-SIGN (appendix figure i) was derived from SIN18-cppt-RhMLV-E by digestion with restriction enzymes *Bam*H1 and *Sal*I, removal of the GFP reporter gene and replacing with the human DC-SIGN gene.

The TRC shRNA library^{174,175} (appendix figure i) was produced with pLKO.1 containing a 1.9-kb stuffer sequence in place of the shRNA cassette. The pLKO.1 plasmid was doubly digested by *Eco*RI and *Age*I to release the 1.9-kb stuffer fragment. DNA fragments were then separated using a 1% agarose gel. The 6-kb *Eco*RI/*Age*I band was excised and DNA was extracted and eluted. Mixed sense and antisense hairpin oligonucleotides were obtained from IDT DNA Technology in a 96-well plate format. Oligonucleotide pairs were annealed with the prepped vector.

Virus production, titration and transduction protocols

VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors were prepared, concentrated, and titered as described previously.¹⁷² Briefly, on the day before transfection, 17.5×10^6 293T cells were plated on a T-175 flask (BD Falcon) using 40 ml of supplemented IMDM media. On the day of transfection, the old media was removed and replaced with 25 ml fresh

supplemented media containing 100 µl of 10 mM chloroquine (Sigma). The function of chloroquine is to prevent 293T cell lysozymes from degrading plasmid DNA. Next, 5 µg of pVSV-G, 12.5 µg of p8.2Δvpr and 12.5 µg of the lentiviral vector was added in a 50 ml centrifuge tube (BD Falcon). Cell culture grade water (Hyclone) was added to the tube to a final volume of 977 μ l. The tube was vortex vigorously and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. Next, 133 µl of 2 M CaCl₂ (Sigma) was added to the tube drop-by-drop with vigorous vortexing after every few drops. The tube was incubated on ice for 5 minutes. After that, 1110 µl of 2 x HEPES buffered saline (1% HEPES w/v, 1.6% NaCl w/v, 0.72% 0.25 M Na₂HPO₄ v/v and 1% v/v 1 M KCl (all from Sigma) in cell culture grade water) was added to the tube drop-by-drop with vigorous vortexing after every few drops. The tube was incubated on ice for 20 minutes. Next, the transfection mixture was added to the roof of the T-175 flask and mixed with the media. The flask was turned right-side up and returned to the incubator for 8 hours. After that, the transfection mixture was removed by aspiration and 40 ml of CS supplemented IMDM media (IMDM, 10% CS and 1% PSG) was added. The viral supernatant was collected in a 50 ml centrifuge tube 3 days post-transfection, centrifuged at 1200 RPM for 5 minutes and filtered through a 0.22-µm-pore-size filter. To concentrate the lentivirus, the supernatant was ultracentrifuged at 17,000 RPM for 1.5 hours at 4°C. After that, the supernatant was poured out and the viral pellet was resuspended with the 200 µl drop left in the tube plus 100 µl of fresh CS supplemented IMDM. Next, the tube was left at 4°C overnight and vortexed vigorously before freezing the viral supernatant at -70°C until needed.

Virus titration with 293T cells was completed by plating 5×10^4 cells per well of a 24-well dish the day before titration. On the day of titration the concentrated viral

supernatant was diluted to 0.1x (0.3 µl virus in 299.7 µl supplemented IMDM). Next, 2.4 µl of 1 mg/ml Polybrene (final concentration = 8 µg/ml) (Sigma) was added and the whole mixture was vortexed well. After that, the old media was removed from the well and 250 µl of the viral mixture was added. The plate was returned to the incubator for 2 hours before the viral mixture was removed and replaced with 1 ml of fresh supplemented IMDM. The cells were harvested 3 days post-transduction and analyzed in flow cytometry. The titre was calculated with the formula, titre = (1 x 10⁵ cells) x (% EGFP⁺ cells) x (4) x (dilution factor).

Transduction of resting, IL-2 activated NK (2.0 x 10^5 cells), or bone marrow progenitor cells was carried out using either the 'spin" or "no-spin" protocol as described below. In the "no-spin" protocol, cells were pelleted at 2000 RPM for 5 minutes at room temperature in 1.5 ml screw cap tubes and resuspended in 0.25 ml of viral supernatant (at various MOI) in the presence of 8 µg/ml of Polybrene (Sigma). Cells were incubated for 2 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. In the "spin" protocol, cell suspensions were placed in 48 well culture plates and centrifuged at 2000 RPM for 1 hour at room temperature. For experiments involving two rounds of transduction, this was conducted 24 hours apart. For both "no-spin" and "spin" protocols, virus-containing supernatant was removed at the end of transduction. Transduced NK cells were cultured in 0.5 ml of supplemented RPMI media containing 1000 units/ml of IL-2 (unless otherwise indicated) for 3 days before analysis. NK cells transduced with TRC vectors were incubate in IL-2 supplemented medium with 24 µg/ml of puromycin (Calbiochem, San Diego, CA) for 24 hours. The puromycin containing medium was removed and replaced with fresh IL-2 supplemented medium for 3 days before analysis. In the experiment involving the Reverse

Transcriptase inhibitor AZT (Sigma), 0.2 mM AZT (final concentration) was added to the NK culture overnight, before transduction and post-transduction. The same concentration of AZT was used in the transduction culture. Transduced NK cells were cultured for 3 days post-transduction before analysis by flow cytometry.

Interferon-y production

LAK NK cells (1 x 10^6 cells) were incubated in 5 ml round-bottom tubes (BD Falcon, Franklin Hills, NJ) overnight in 300 µl of supplemented RPMI 1640 containing 1000 units/ml IL-2, 10 ng/ml PMA, 0.5 µg/ml ionomycin, and 10 µg/ml Brefeldin A (BFA) (all from Sigma). Brefeldin A prevents the exocytosis of cytokine-containing vesicles, therefore, allows detection of cytokine production intracellularly following stimulation.²⁰ IFN- γ production was analyzed by intracellular staining and flow cytometry.

Flow cytometry

Anti-NK1.1 PE, anti-NK1.1 APC, Biotinated anti-NKG2A/C/E, Biotinated anti-Ly49 C+I, Biotinated anti-Ly49 F, Strepavidin PECy5, and anti-IFN-γ PE were all purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA). DX5 PE was purchased from BD Bioscience (San Diego, CA). Anit-human DC-SIGN PE was purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). Biotinated anti-Ocil mAb was a generous gift from Dr. James R. Carlyle (University of Toronto). Non-specific binding of antibodies was prevented by addition of Fc Blocker (eBioscience) followed by 10 minutes of incubation on ice. The primary antibody was then added followed by 30 minutes of incubation on

ice. The samples were then washed with 1x PBS supplemented with 2% fetal calf serum (FCS) (HyClone) and 0.2% sodium azide (Sigma). If a secondary antibody was required, it was added after the wash, incubated on ice for 30 minutes and washed once again with supplemented 1x PBS. If no intracellular staining was needed, cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde (Sigma). If cells were intracellularly stained, 4% paraformaldehyde was used to fix the cells. After fixing, cells were permeablized with saponin (Sigma). The intracellular antibody was then added and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The cells were then washed with supplemented 1x PBS. Data acquisition was performed on a FACSCalibur (BD) using Cell Quest software (BD). A minimum of 15 000 cells were acquired for each sample. For cell cycle/division analysis, 0.5×10^6 cells were pelleted and resuspended in 0.5 ml of DNA staining solution (0.1% w/v sodium citrate, 0.3% v/v Triton-x 100, 0.002% w/v Ribonuclease A (all 3 from Sigma) and 0.01% w/v propidium iodide (Calbiochem)). Cell suspension was incubated in the dark on ice for 30 minutes before analysis using Guava Easycyte Mini (Guava Technologies, Hayward, CA). For cell viability analysis, 0.1×10^6 cells were pelleted and resuspended in 40 µl of 1x binding buffer (HyClone), 1 µl of Annexin V-PE (BioVision, Mountain View, CA) and 2 µl of 7-amino actinomycin D (7-AAD) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). Cell suspension was incubated in the dark at room temperature for 30 minutes before analysis using Guava Easycyte Mini (Guava Technologies). Data was analysed using FACS Express 2 software (De Novo Software, ON). Cell sorting was done using Beckman Coulter sorter. Cells were stained with anti-CD3 antibody before sorting. Two populations were obtained from the sorting, CD3⁻EGFP⁻ and CD3⁻EGFP⁺.

⁵¹Chromium release cytotoxicity assay

NK cytotoxicity was accessed in a standard 4-hour ⁵¹Cr-release assay against YAC-1, Daudi, P815, BWZ, or BWZ-Ocil. Each killing condition was done in triplicates in 96-well V-bottomed plates (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark). Target cells were incubated with 100 μ Ci (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences, Quebec) for 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Target cells were washed 2 times and incubated for 10 minutes in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FCS. 2000 target cells in 100 μ l of supplemented RPMI 1640 was added along with 100 μ l of effector cells (at the appropriate effector:target ratio, 1:1 to 10:1) into each well. Plates were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 4 hours. Cells were centrifuged at 500 RPM for 5 minutes before 40 μ l of the supernatant was counted in a liquid scintillation and luminescence counter (Trilux 1450 Microbeta). Percentage of target cells killed was calculated using the formula, % Killing = [(experimental release – spontaneous release)] x 100.

In vivo survival analysis of transduced NK cells

Freshly isolated C57BL/6 NK cells were transduced with the Cppt-2E lentiviral vector at MOI = 40 IU/cell using the "spin" protocol. The transduced cells $(1-2x10^6)$, were injected intravenously into RAG2-/- γ c-/- mice¹⁷⁶ that had received a total body irradiation of 200 Rad. Peripheral blood and splenocytes were obtained 2 weeks after the adoptive transfer. Cells were surface stained for NK markers and analyzed immediately in flow cytometry. EGFP⁺ NK cells were identified in CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ populations. Splenocytes were cultured in IL-2 for 5 days before flow cytometry analysis.

CD107a degranulation assay¹⁷⁷

Effector and target cells $(0.2 \times 10^{6} \text{ each}, 1:1 \text{ ratio})$ were mixed in 5 ml centrifuge tubes to a final volume of 0.2 ml. 1 µl of anti-CD107a-PE (BD, San Diego, CA) antibody was added, tubes were mixed and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for one hour. 6 µg of monensin (Sigma) (at 2 mg/ml in methanol) was added, tubes were mixed and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for an additional 4 hours before analysis in flow cytometry. Monensin was added to prevent the acidification of endocytic vesicles, therefore, avoiding the degradation of reinternalized surface CD107a proteins and allowing for the visualization of CD107a following stimulation.²⁰ If additional antibody staining was required, cells were stained before analysis.

Western blots

EL-4 cells (2.0×10^6) were washed twice with PBS before lysis with 40 µl of 0.5% Triton-X lysis buffer (with 10 mmol/l Tris Base and 150 mmol/l NaCl) (all three from Sigma) for 30 minutes on ice with vortexing every 10 minutes. Following lysis, cell debris was pelleted at 13,000 RPM for 10 minutes at room temperature. The pellet was discarded and the supernatant was harvested and placed on ice. The protein concentration was immediately measured using the Bradford Protein Assay following manufacturer's protocol (Biorad, Mississauga, ON). Each protein sample was then adjusted to a concentration of 2 µg/µl (total volume of 50 µl) with 1x PBS. 50 µl of 2x reducing buffer (contains sodium dodecyl sulfate (Biorad) and 2-ME) was added to each protein sample. Prepared samples were boiled at 100°C for 3 minutes and centrifuged at 13,000 RPM for 1 minute at room temperature. 20 µl of each sample was loaded onto 10%

polyacrylamide gels (Biorad). The gel was run at 90 – 110 V until the proteins were completely resolved. The proteins were transferred onto charged polyvinylidene difluoride membranes (Biorad) at 27 V overnight at 4°C. Membranes were blocked with 10% non-fat milk in 1x PBS and 0.1% Tween 20 (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON) (PBST) for 1 hour at room temperature. The blocked membrane was incubated with primary rabbit anti-SHP-1 antibody (Upstate/Cedarlane) diluted in PBST (final concentration of 1 µg/ml) overnight at 4°C. The membranes were washed 3 times for 10 minutes each with PBST. Donkey anti-rabbit HRP (Biolegend, San Diego, CA) secondary antibody (1/2000 dilution) was added to the membrane for 1 hour at room temperature. The membranes were washed 4 times for 30 minutes each with PBST. Bands were visualized by ECL Plus/Advance Western Blotting Detection System (Amersham, Piscataway, NJ) according to manufacturer's protocol. X-ray film (Kodak, Rochester, NY) was developed using the Mini Medical Series film developer (AFP Imaging).

Carboxyfluorescein Succinimidyl Ester (CFSE) labelling

NK cells (0.75 x 10⁶) were centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 10 minutes at room temperature and the supernatant was removed. Cells were resuspended in 5 ml of 1x PBS. 5 ml of 3 µmol/l CFSE (Molecular Probe) was added to the cells and incubated at room temperature for 7 minutes. 5 ml of FBS was added and mixed very gently. Cells were centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cell pellet was resuspended in 10 ml of supplemented RPMI 1640 medium and again centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cell pellet was then resuspended in 1 ml of IL-2 (1000 units/ml) supplemented RPMI 1640 medium and transferred into a 24 well plate and cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

The RNAi consortium (TRC) Lentiviral shRNA library¹⁷⁴

TRC Lentiviral shRNA library is a collaborative effort based at the Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard, and includes six MIT and Harvard associated research institutions and five international life sciences organizations. TRC will have lentiviral shRNA libraries targeting 15,000 human and 15,000 mouse annotated genes with a goal of validating each shRNA in multiple cell lines.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed statistically by a two-tailed Student's t-test. A p value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

3.1. Lentiviral vectors mediate stable and efficient gene delivery into primary murine Natural Killer cells

3.1.1. VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors allow stable, efficient gene transfer and expression in primary murine NK cells

We used VSV-G pseudotyped, replication-incompetent lentiviral vectors that expressed an EGFP reporter gene (Cppt-2E or FUGW) to evaluate the efficiency of lentiviral transduction in murine IL-2 activated NK (LAK) cells. The percentage of cells that are transduced and the level of transgene expression define the efficiency of gene transfer. CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ NK cells purified from splenocytes of C57BL/6 mice were cultured in IL-2 (purity >95%) before transduction (Fig. 1A). These LAK cells were transduced at different MOI (4, 20 and 40 IU/cell) using a "no-spin" protocol that has been used successfully in efficient transduction of primary primate T cells.¹⁷² The transduced cells were analyzed for EGFP expression 3 days post-transduction. In this single-step transduction protocol of primary LAK cells, we demonstrated a transduction efficiency of 26% of the CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ cells, at an MOI of 20 IU/cell (Fig. 1B). No pseudo-transduction was observed because EGFP expression in these transduced cells was suppressed in the presence of the reverse transcriptase inhibitor, AZT (Fig. 1B). Lentiviral vectors confer stable EGFP gene expression in this proliferating, transduced primary LAK culture in vitro for over two weeks (Fig. 1C).



Figure 1. VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors allow efficient gene transfer into purified IL-2 activated primary murine NK cells (LAK). (A) NK cells were purified from splenocytes of C57BL/6 mice and cultured as LAK cells, as described in the Materials and Methods. Purity of the LAK cells was analyzed by surface staining with anti-NK1.1-PE and anti-CD3-PECy5 in flow cytometry. Quadrants were set according to its respective isotype control. (B) Efficient transduction of primary LAK cells. Day 5 LAK cells were transduced with the EGFP-expressing lentiviral vectors (Cppt-2E, MOI 20 IU/cell) under the "no-spin" protocol (Materials and Methods). They were cultured in the presence or absence of AZT for 3 days before flow cytometry analysis. EGFP expression in the CD3 NK1.1⁺ gated population was shown. (C) Stable EGFP expression in the lentiviral transduced LAK cells was maintained *in vitro*. Day 5 LAK cells were transduced (Cppt-2E, MOI 40 IU/cell) and maintained for over a two-week period. Transduced LAK cells were harvested 3, 7 and 14 days post-transduction and analyzed for their EGFP expression in flow cytometry. Data shown are representative of 3 experiments.

We next examined whether the transduction efficiency of primary LAK cells could be enhanced by a centrifugation-based virus inoculation protocol ("spin" protocol) that is commonly used in retroviral transduction.^{135,141,143} Parallel experiments were set up to compare the transduction efficiency of LAK cells, using the "no-spin" and "spin" protocols at different MOIs. At an MOI of 20 IU/cell, an average "spin" transduction supported higher transduction efficiency than that of "no-spin", at a range of 31.5%-43.3% versus 21.7%-26.7% respectively (p < 0.05). The biggest difference was observed at a lower MOI (4 IU/cell) – an average of 26.6% (ranges 19.0%-30.4%) and 13.8% (ranges 11.7%-16.9%) under the "spin" and "no-spin" protocol, respectively (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2A). We therefore concluded that the "spin" protocol is more efficient in transducing primary LAK cells at lower MOI, when compared to that obtained in the "no-spin" protocol. We used the "spin" protocol in all the subsequent transduction experiments. We further demonstrated that the transduction protocol could be used to express surface receptors (eg. DC-SIGN) (Fig. 2B). Transduction efficiency can be further augmented by incubating the transduced LAK cells in additional IL-12 (p < p0.0001) (Fig. 2B) or by an additional "spin" transduction (p < 0.0001) (Fig. 2C).



Figure 2. Lentiviral vectors are capable of delivering genes other than EGFP. (A) A single-step centrifugation-based transduction protocol supports a higher transduction efficiency of LAK cells at low MOI. Day 5 LAK Cells were transduced with the EGFP-expressing, FUGW lentiviral vectors under the "spin" or "no-spin" protocol at different MOIs (40, 20, and 4 IU/cell). Transduced LAK cells were analyzed for EGFP expression 3 days post-transduction. EGFP expression in the CD3'NK1.1⁺ gated population was shown. (B) Efficient delivery of DC-SIGN. Day 5 LAK cells were transduced with the DC-SIGN-expressing, Cppt-DC-SIGN lentiviral vectors under the spin protocol at MOI = 40 IU/cell. DC-SIGN expression was analyzed 3 days post-transduction. (C) Two rounds of transduction on LAK cells increases gene delivery efficiency compared to single round of transduction. Day 5 LAK cells were transduced twice, 24 hours apart with Cppt-2E lentiviral vectors under the "spin" protocol at MOI = 20 IU/cell. Data shown are representative of 3 experiments. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.0001.

The choice of internal promoters used in lentiviral vectors has a profound effect on the level of transgene expression in transduced primate T cells and hematopoietic stem cells.¹⁷² A murine leukemia virus long terminal repeat viral promoter (RhMLV) from rhesus macaques lymphoma is shown to support higher level of transgene expression in human T lymphocytes when compared to that of an internal cytomegalovirus (CMV) immediate/early promoter.¹⁷² An endogenous human ubiquitin-C promoter (Ubi-C) has been used in a transgenic mouse model *in vivo* to provide reliable expression in various tissues.¹⁷¹ We, therefore, used lentiviral vectors FUGW and Cppt2E, which carried the internal Ubi-C and RhMLV promoters, respectively, to examine EGFP reporter gene expression in the transduced LAK cells. We found that both vectors supported transduction and expression of EGFP reporter genes in the primary LAK cells. Optimal transduction efficiencies of 40% and 33% using the FUGW and Cppt-2E vectors, respectively, were achieved at an MOI of 40 (Fig. 2, 3A). However, the internal viral RhMLV promoter allowed approximately 3-fold higher level of EGFP expression in transduced cells when compared to that of the Ubi-C promoter (MFI of 120 versus 40) (p < 0.0001) (Fig. 3A). We further compared the activities of other commonly used promoters (eg. CMV or PGK) in expressing EGFP reporter gene in the transduced LAK cells at low MOI. We demonstrated that their promoter activities in descending order: RhMLV (MFI 216), PGK and Ubi-C (MFI \sim 85), and CMV (MFI 45) (p < 0.0001) (Fig. 3B).





3.1.2. Lentiviral transduction does not impair NK cell functions

Identification of multigene families of NK receptors in mice and humans revealed the polyclonal nature of mature NK cell populations with respect to their NK receptor expression and distribution.⁴² Upon activation, these NK cells produce chemokines/cytokines (such as IFN- γ) and trigger cytolytic activities towards target cells.¹¹⁸ We, therefore, used these parameters to examine whether our single-step transduction effects NK phenotype and/or functions.

Surface expression of NK receptors NKG2A/C/E, Ly49C+I, Ly49F, NKG2D and NK1.1 on EGFP⁺ transduced LAK cells were analyzed to determine whether transduced cells exhibit different NK receptor phenotypes. When compared to the control LAK cells (mock-transduced and EGFP⁻ LAK cells in the transduced culture), we observed no difference in the surface expression of the panel of NK receptors examined in the EGFP⁺ LAK cells (Fig. 4A). The transduction process and the transgene expression of EGFP had no impact on surface expression of these commonly studied NK receptors. In addition, the data indicate that this VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vector system was not biased towards a particular subset(s) when used in transduction of polyclonal LAK cells.

Induction of IFN- γ production was used as a measure to examine whether cytokine production in lentiviral transduced LAK cells was affected. LAK cells were harvested, stimulated with PMA and ionomycin (potent inducers of IFN- γ production)¹⁷⁸ overnight and stained for intracellular IFN- γ production. Non-stimulated EGFP⁺, mock and EGFP⁻ LAK cells were used to measure basal levels of IFN- γ production. The percentage of IFN- γ^+ cells and MFI of IFN- γ production in the EGFP⁺ transduced LAK cells were compared to the mock-transduced and the EGFP⁻ LAK cells in the transduced

culture. No basal level of IFN- γ production was detected in all three LAK NK populations (data not shown). Approximately 80% of NK1.1⁺ NK cells were IFN- γ -positive in all three groups of LAK cells analyzed (Fig. 4B). No significant impairment in IFN- γ induction in the transduced cells was observed meaning that lentiviral transduction does not effect normal NK cell cytokine production.



Figure 4. Lentiviral transduction does not impair surface NK receptor expression or IFN- γ production. (A) Mock-transduced and EGFP-transduced (FUGW, MOI 40 IU/cell) LAK cells were analyzed for their surface expression of NKG2A/C/E, Ly49C+I, Ly49F, NKG2D, and NK1.1. (B) Lentiviral transduced LAK cells produced IFN- γ upon stimulation. LAK cells transduced with FUGW (MOI 40 IU/cell) were stimulated in ionomycin and PMA overnight to induce IFN- γ production. The cells were intracellularly stained for IFN- γ and analyzed in flow cytometry. All quadrants were set according to its respective isotype control. Data shown are representative of 2 experiments.

Next, NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity was examined in the transduced LAK cells. Mock-transduced and lentiviral-EGFP-transduced LAK cells were harvested on day 7 post-transduction. We used FACSorting to isolate the EGFP⁺ and EGFP⁻ cells of the transduced LAK culture (>95% purity). These purified LAK cells, together with the unsorted mock-transduced cells, were used as effectors in a standard ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay. The prototypic NK-sensitive cell line, YAC-1, was used as NK targets. A relatively NK-resistant Daudi target cell line was used in the same assay to demonstrate specificity of NK target recognition. No significant impairment of cytolytic activities in the sorted EGFP⁺-transduced LAK cells (Fig. 5) was observed when compared to the sorted EGFP⁻ LAK or unsorted mock-transduced LAK effectors. These lentiviral transduced cells exhibited efficient YAC-1 killing of 49% at an E:T ratio of 1:1. The percentage of YAC-1 killing was increased as we increased the E:T ratios (up to 80% at an E:T ratio of 10:1). It remained to be determined why the sorted EGFP⁻ control LAK cells (from the transduced culture) consistently exhibited a slightly higher cytotoxicity when compared to the unsorted mock-transduced LAK control. However, there was no significant difference in the YAC-1 killing when we compared the cytolytic activity of the sorted EGFP⁺ and EGFP⁻ LAK cells (Fig. 5A). In addition, target specificities towards YAC-1 and Daudi targets were maintained in all three LAK cell populations (Fig. 5B).



Figure 5. NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and target specificity are not altered by lentiviral transduction. LAK cells were transduced by the Cppt-2E vector at an MOI of 20 IU/cell using the "spin" protocol. Mock-transduced and the lentiviral transduced LAK cells were cultured for 7 days before cell sorting. The EGFP⁺ or EGFP⁻ NK cells that were CD3⁻ were sorted and used as effector cells in a 4-hour ⁵¹Cr release assay. Unsorted mock-transduced LAK were used as effectors for comparison. YAC-1 (A, B) and Daudi cells (B) were used as target cells in the assay. Data shown are representative of 2 experiments.

To examine whether lentiviral transduction has any effect on cellular viability, transduced LAK cells were stained with Annexin V to measure apoptosis. We observed that EGFP⁺ NK cells did not show increased frequencies of apoptosis (3-5%) when compared to the mock-transduced or EGFP⁻ untransduced controls (data not shown). More importantly, we demonstrated *in vivo* persistence of EGFP⁺ NK cells in the peripheral blood and spleen of the recipient RAG2-/- γ c-/- immunodeficient mice 2-3 weeks after we had adoptively transferred with the lentiviral transduced NK cells into these animals (Fig. 6).



Figure 6. Transduced NK cells persist *in vivo*. Freshly isolated NK cells were transduced with the Cppt-2E lentiviral vector at MOI = 40 IU/cell using the "spin" protocol, cultured in IL-2 for 6 days. The transduced NK cells were i.v. injected into irradiated RAG2-/- γ c-/- recipient mice. Peripheral blood and splenocytes were collected on day 15 after the adoptive transfer. EGFP expression of the CD3 NK1.1⁺ gated population in peripheral blood (A), and splenocytes after 5 days *in vitro* culture in IL-2 (B) was analysed. Splenocytes were cultured in IL-2 to induce NK cell proliferation, activation and transgene expression.

3.1.3. Lentiviral vectors are able to transduce resting NK and Progenitor cells without prior cytokine activation

Previously published work used only IL-2 activated NK cells in their gene transfer studies.^{135,136,141,143,144} A unique feature of an HIV-1 based lentiviral vector is its ability to enter the nucleus without the need to activate cells prior to transduction. We examined whether lentiviral vectors supported efficient gene transfer into resting/nonproliferating NK cells. *Ex vivo* NK cells were isolated (purity over 86%) (Fig 7A), and confirmed to be at its resting state by cell cycle analysis (Fig. 7B). They were transduced by an EGFP-expressing lentiviral vector without prior IL-2 stimulation. Transduction efficiency was evaluated by measuring the percentage of EGFP⁺ cells in IL-2 containing culture medium at day 5 post-transduction *in vitro*. We demonstrated efficient transduction of these *ex vivo* NK cells, 41.9% (range 36.0%-49.3%) at an MOI of 40 IU/cell. At lower MOI, we were still able to obtain transduction efficiencies of 33.6% (range 32.0%-35.3%) and 15.4% (range 14.2%-17.2%) at MOI of 20 and 4 IU/cell, respectively (Fig. 7C).

High levels of exogenous IL-2 are necessary, and routinely used in maintaining NK cultures *in vitro*. However, NK cell activation by high levels of exogenous IL-2 may not be desirable given the pleiotropic effects of IL-2 receptor signalling. Therefore, we examined the concentration requirement of IL-2 on transgene expression in these transduced *ex vivo* NK cells. Briefly, freshly isolated NK cells were transduced with the FUGW lentiviral vectors without prior IL-2 activation, and cultured in complete medium supplemented with different concentrations of IL-2 (100, 200, 500 and 1000 U/ml) *in vitro*. At day 3 post-transduction, the effect of exogenous IL-2 on EGFP expression was analyzed by flow cytometry. EGFP expression ranging from 21% - 48% was observed in

all IL-2 culture conditions (Fig. 7D). As reported previously, we found that maintenance of primary NK cells in vitro required high concentrations of IL-2 (500 - 1000 U/ml).^{135,141,143,144} At lower IL-2 concentrations, fewer activated NK cells and lower cellular proliferation/viability were observed (data not shown). The lowest percentage of EGFP-expressing cells (about 21%) was observed in the transduced NK culture that was maintained at the lowest IL-2 concentration (100 U/ml) tested in the 3-day posttransduction period. Since we observed different levels of EGFP expression in the NK cells (that were all freshly isolated and transduced in the absence of prior IL-2 activation) under different IL-2 culture conditions, we concluded that IL-2 concentration determines the activation status of NK cells thereby determining the level of transgene expression in these cells. IL-2 is not required for lentiviral transduction because no IL-2 was added during the transduction procedure and excess viral particles were removed before the addition of various IL-2 concentrations in the culture. We also examined the effects of different cytokine combinations, commonly used in NK studies, in augmenting transgene expression in the transduced resting NK cells. We found that IL-2 was better than IL-15 alone in supporting the transduced resting NK cells (p < 0.05) (Fig. 7E). A combination of IL-2/IL12 or IL12/IL15 supported a 3-fold increase in transduction efficiency when compared to IL-2 alone (p < 0.0001) (Fig. 7E).



Figure 7. Lentiviral vectors transduce freshly purified ex vivo NK cells without prior **IL-2 activation.** Ex vivo NK cells were purified as described previously. (A) Purity of the NK cells was analyzed by surface staining with anti-NK1.1-PE and anti-CD3-PECy5 in flow cytometry. (B) Cell cycle/division analysis on freshly purified and day 5 LAK NK cells. Cells were stained with DNA staining solution and analyzed in flow cytometry. (C) Purified CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ NK cells were transduced, in the absence of IL-2, with the FUGW vectors at different MOI using the spin protocol. They were cultured in IL-2 containing medium for 5 days before analysis for EGFP expression. EGFP expression in the CD3⁻ NK1.1⁺ gated population was shown. Data shown are representative of 3 experiments. (D) IL-2 augmented transgene expression in the *ex vivo* purified NK cells that were transduced without prior IL-2 activation. Ex vivo CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ enriched NK cells were transduced with FUGW (MOI: 40 IU/cell). They were cultured in RPMI medium supplemented with different concentrations of IL-2 (as indicated). EGFP expression was analyzed in flow cytometry 3 days post-transduction. (E) Activation of transduced resting NK by IL-2 lead to higher EGFP expression compared to IL-15. NK cells were transduced with Cppt-2E (MOI = 40 IU/cell) and incubated in their respective cytokines. EGFP expression was analyzed in flow cytometry 5 days post-transduction. Data is representative of 3 experiments. **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.0001.

We next examined whether lentiviral vectors were able to transduce murine hematopoietic progenitors and maintain stable transgene expression during NK differentiation *in vitro*¹⁷⁹ and *in vivo*. We used an EGFP-expressing lentiviral vector to transduce enriched hematopoietic stem cells from C57BL/6 or RAG2-/- mice without prior cytokine stimulation. After the single-step lentiviral transduction, these progenitors were differentiated (mock or transduced) into NK cells. Developing NK cells were evaluated by surface expression of the serological NK marker NK1.1. Using an in vitro NK differentiation culture condition, we found that over 20% of NK1.1⁺ cells derived from the progenitor cells expressed the EGFP reporter gene (Fig 8A). Using an in vivo NK differentiation protocol where transduced progenitors were adoptively transferred into irradiated RAG2-/-yc-/- immunodeficient mice, we found that over 6% of NK1.1⁺ cells expressed the EGFP reporter gene (Fig. 8B). In addition, we found that starting with progenitors from T and B cell deficient mice (RAG2-/-) can dramatically increase the adoptively transferred NK cell population while eliminating the CD3⁺ T cells. Taken together, we concluded that lentiviral vectors were capable of transducing ex vivo NK cells and NK progenitor cells without the need of prior cytokine stimulations.


Figure 8. Efficient gene transfer in differentiating NK cells that were derived from the lentiviral-transduced murine hematopoietic progenitor cells *in vitro*. Bone marrow cells of C57BL/6 or RAG2-/- mice were isolated and enriched for progenitor stem cells in using EasySep Mouse Progenitor Stem Cell Negative Selection kit (StemCell Technologies). They were transduced with Cppt-2E (MOI: 40 IU/cell) in the absence of cytokines under the spin protocol. (A) After transduction, they were cultured in supplemented RPMI containing a cocktail of cytokines that support NK differentiation *in vitro*. EGFP expression and NK differentiation was analyzed by flow cytometry with staining with anti-NK1.1-PE and anti-CD3-PECy5. Data is representative of 3 experiments. (B) After transduction, they were adoptively transferred by i.v. injection into irradiated RAG2-/-γc-/- recipient mice. Peripheral blood was collected on day 30 after the adoptive transfer. EGFP expression of the CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ gated population in peripheral blood was analyzed in flow cytometry.

<u>3.2. Over-expression of inhibitory receptor NKR-P1B in mature NK</u> Cells resulted in an altered NK-target cell specificity

The outcome of an NK-target interaction is determined by the interplay of signals generated from inhibitory and activation receptors.^{60,62,63,180} Therefore, we wanted to evaluate whether manipulating the balance of signals generated by the simultaneous engagement of activating and inhibitory receptors will alter NK-target cell specificity. We used our established primary NK lentiviral transduction protocol to over-express an NK inhibitory receptor, NKR-P1B in BALB/c LAK. NKR-P1B is a homodimeric type II transmembrane C-type lectin-like inhibitory receptor that binds Ocil/Clr-b expressed by all host hematopoietic cells.^{33,43} NKR-P1B is recognized by anti-NK1.1 antibodies. We used BALB/c LAK because they do not express NK1.1. In addition, BALB/c NK cells are speculated to express an endogenous receptor for Ocil that is not recognized by the anti-NK1.1 antibody (Carlyle, J.R., unpublished data). Therefore, it allows us to use anti-NK1.1 antibodies to detect NKR-P1B over-expression in BALB/c LAK.

3.2.1. Over-expression of NKR-P1B in murine IL-2-activated (LAK) NK cells

In our previous work, we demonstrated that lentiviral vectors mediate stable and efficient gene delivery into primary murine NK cells using an enhanced green fluorescent protein as a reporter gene.¹⁸¹ Employing the established transduction protocol, we wanted to evaluate the efficiency of over-expressing an inhibitory receptor NKR-P1B³³ in BALB/c LAK cells. Day 5 LAK cells were transduced twice on consecutive days (as described in materials and methods) by the spin protocol with Cppt-NKR-P1B lentiviral vector containing virus at an MOI = 40 IU/cell. The transduced cells were analyzed for

NKR-P1B expression 3 days post-transduction. In this two round transduction protocol of primary BALB/c LAK cells, we demonstrated a transduction efficiency of over 7% (Fig. 9). I initially transduced Day 5 LAK cells only once, however, the transduction efficiency was very low, ~2% (data not shown). From here on in, mock represents NK cells that were never introduced to lentiviral virus, NKR-P1B⁻ represents NK cells that encountered virus but did not undergo transduction and NKR-P1B⁺ represents NK cells that underwent transduction and expressed the NKR-P1B receptor.

Because only a proportion of the transduced cells were expressing the NKR-P1B receptor, we were working with a non-homogenous cell population. Therefore, flow cytometry was an advantageous technique to use for analysis because it allowed us to separate cell populations by employing regional gates. The CD107a degranulation assay and intracellular staining for TNF- α were chosen over the ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay and ELISA respectively, because the former techniques allowed us to separate cell populations by regional gating.



Figure 9. Lentiviral-mediated over-expression of NKR-P1B in BALB/c IL-2activated LAK cells. Day 5 LAK cells were transduced on 2 consecutive days with Cppt-NKR-P1B vectors at MOI = 40 IU/cell. Cells were centrifuged in 48-well plates at 2000 RPM for 2 hours at room temperature. NKR-P1B surface expression was analyzed 3 days post-transduction by staining with anti-NK1.1-APC antibody in flow cytometry. Functional analysis was conducted by gating on each respective LAK population after incubation with YAC-1 target cells, staining with anti-CD107a PE or anti-TNF- α FITC and analysis in flow cytometry. Data is representative of 3 experiments.

3.2.2. Establishment of CD107a degranulation assay for flow cytometry analysis of NK cytolytic activity

NK cell cytotoxicity is one of the possible outcomes resulting from interactions with virus infected or transformed cells.^{182,183} Cytotoxic lysis of the target cells occurs when NK cells release their cytotoxic granules containing perforin and granzymes.¹⁷⁷ The perforin and granzymes act on the target cells causing them to undergo apoptotic cell death.^{184,185}

The most common protocol to measure NK-mediated target cell lysis is a standard ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay. This protocol involves incubating NK cells with ⁵¹Cr labeled target cells. ⁵¹Cr is released into the supernatant as the target cells undergo lysis. The percentage of specific lysis is determined by measuring the amount of ⁵¹Cr that has been released by the target cells.

An alternative protocol to assess NK cell mediated cytotoxicity is to measure effector cell degranulation. Lining the membrane of cytotoxic granules is the lysosomal-associated membrane protein-1 (LAMP-1 or CD107a).^{186,187} CD107a has been recently identified as a marker of degranulation on human CD8⁺ cytotoxic T and NK lymphocytes because its expression has been shown to be associated with perforin and granzyme release upon antigen stimulation and target interactions.^{20,188} Although CD107a expression has been studied quite extensively on human NK cells, its surface expression on mouse NK cells has not been as intensely studied. We therefore tested CD107a surface expression on mouse NK cells and its correlation with target cell ⁵¹Cr release using the well documented NK targets.

Briefly, Day 5 BALB/c LAK cells were used as effectors in a standard 4-hour ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay or CD107a degranulation assay. The degranulation assay

involved incubating effectors with target cells in media containing anti-CD107a antibody and monensin for 5 and 4 hours, respectively. The NK-sensitive YAC-1 and NK-resistant P815 cell lines were used to demonstrate NK-target specificities. To further demonstrate NK-target specificities, NK-sensitive BWZ and NK-resistant BWZ-Ocil (expresses Ocil, a ligand for the NKR-P1B inhibitory receptor) sister cell lines were included in both cytotoxicity assays.

We demonstrated that NK-target specificities were displayed in both target cell ⁵¹Cr release and effector cell CD107a expression (Fig. 10). There was a direct correlation in the sensitivity of YAC-1 and resistance of P815 toward NK lysis between ⁵¹Cr release from the target cells and CD107a expression on the effector NK cells (p < 0.01). Similarly, BWZ displayed increased sensitivity to NK lysis compared to BWZ-Ocil in both ⁵¹Cr release and CD107a expression (p < 0.05).

Taken together, these data demonstrated that CD107a is a marker of mouse NK cytotoxic activity. Also, CD107a expression directly correlates with ⁵¹Cr release as demonstrated by target specificities for NK-sensitive and –resistant targets.



Figure 10. NK CD107a degranulation directly correlates with target cell ⁵¹Cr release during NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. (A) Day 5 IL-2-activated NK (LAK) cells were used as effectors at a 1:1 ratio in a 4-hour ⁵¹Cr release assay. (B) Day 5 LAK cells were used as effectors in a CD107a degranulation assay. Briefly, LAK cells were co-cultured with target cells at a 1:1 ratio in 5 ml centrifuge tubes. Tubes were incubated at 37°C for 5 and 4 hours in the presence of anti-CD107a-PE antibody and monensin, respectively. Analysis was conducted in flow cytometry. Data is representative of 3 experiments. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01.

3.2.3. Over-expression of NKR-P1B resulted in decreased NK cell activity against Ocil-expressing target cells

NKR-P1B is an inhibitory receptor normally expressed on NK cells. Therefore, we hypothesized that BALB/c LAK cells over-expressing NKR-P1B should show decreased cytotoxicity against Ocil-expressing target cells. To evaluate our hypothesis, we used sister cell lines BWZ and BWZ-Ocil as targets. Because BWZ-Ocil expresses the ligand for NKR-P1B, it should be killed less compared to BWZ. In addition, we used NK-sensitive YAC-1 and NK-resistant P815 target cells to evaluate whether target specificity was maintained in all three NK populations.

Briefly, LAK cells were incubated with target cells at a 1:1 ratio in the presence of anti-CD107a antibody and monensin for 5 and 4 hours, respectively. The percentage of LAK cells that underwent degranulation was determined in flow cytometry. Around 15% of the cells in all three populations underwent degranulation against YAC-1 compared to about 5% of the cells undergoing degranulation against P815 (Fig. 11A). The fold difference in CD107a degranulation seen between the NK-sensitive target YAC-1 and NK-resistant target P815 were similar (around 3-fold, differences were not significant) in all three NK cell populations (Fig 11B). I next compared the NK degranulation against BWZ and BWZ-Ocil (Fig 11C). All three NK populations showed decreased degranulation against BWZ-Ocil compared to BWZ. However, the NKR-P1B⁺ population showed a significantly greater fold decrease in degranulation compared to mock and NKR-P1B⁻ (p < 0.001 and p < 0.01 respectively) (Fig. 11D). The degranulation difference for the mock and NKR-P1B⁻ populations was about 1.5-fold while the difference for the NKR-P1B⁺ population was about 2.5-fold.



Figure 11. NKR-P1B over-expression resulted in decreased CD107a degranulation against Ocil-expressing targets. Day 5 IL-2-activated NK (LAK) cells were transduced on 2 consecutive days with Cppt-NKR-P1B vectors at MOI = 40 IU/cell. Cells were centrifuged in 48-well plates at 2000 RPM for 2 hours at room temperature. The mock-transduced and lentiviral-transduced LAK cells were cultured for 3 days before they were used as effectors in a CD107a degranulation assay. Briefly, LAK cells were co-cultured with target cells at a 1:1 ratio in 5 ml centrifuge tubes. Tubes were incubated at 37°C for 5 and 4 hours in the presence of anti-CD107a-PE antibody and monensin, respectively. Analysis was conducted in flow cytometry. (A) and (B) YAC-1 and P815 (C) and (D) BWZ and BWZ-Ocil were used as target cells. Fold decrease was calculated by: (% CD107a Positive, YAC-1)/(% CD107a Positive, P815) or (% CD107a Positive, BWZ)/(% CD107a Positive, BWZ-Ocil). Data is representative of 3 experiments. NS, non-significant; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.0001.

In addition to cytotoxicity, NK cytokine production is also dependent on the balance of receptor signalling.¹¹⁸ Therefore, we hypothesized that NKR-P1B inhibitory signalling is capable of decreasing NK cytokine production against Ocil expressing target cells. Again, we used sister cell lines BWZ and BWZ-Ocil as the non-Ocil-expressing and Ocil-expressing target cells, respectively. NK-sensitive YAC-1 and NK-resistant P815 were used to evaluate target specificity in all three NK populations.

Briefly, LAK cells and target cells were incubated at a 1:1 ratio overnight in the presence of brefeldin A. TNF- α expression was analyzed by intracellular staining in flow cytometry. Target specificity was maintained in all three NK populations because around 4% of the cells in each population underwent TNF- α production against YAC-1 compared to around 0.6% of the cells producing TNF- α against P815 (Fig 12A). In addition, the fold difference in TNF- α production seen between YAC-1 and P815 were comparable (around 6.5-fold, differences were not statistically significant) in all three NK cell populations (Fig 12B). When comparing TNF- α production against BWZ and BWZ-Ocil compared to BWZ. NKR-P1B⁺ NK cells showed a 2-fold decrease in TNF- α production against BWZ-Ocil compared to BWZ (Fig 12C and D). Therefore, NKR-P1B⁺ NK cells showed a significantly larger fold decrease in TNF- α expression compared to mock and NKR-P1B⁻ NK cells (p < 0.05). As a result, NKR-P1B inhibitory signalling is also capable of decreasing TNF- α production upon binding to Ocil.

Therefore, the CD107a degranulation and TNF- α production studies showed that the NKR-P1B receptor, when over-expressed in BALB/c LAK cells was fully capable of inhibitory signalling. Upon binding to Ocil, NKR-P1B signaling was capable of skewing

the NK activity outcome towards decreased cytotoxicity and TNF-α production against the target cell. However, target specificities against non-Ocil expressing targets were not affected as seen in YAC-1 versus P815 cells. Taken together, these results suggest the feasibility of directly manipulating NK cell receptor expression leading to an altered degree of NK target recognition.



Figure 12. NKR-P1B over-expression resulted in decreased TNF-α expression against Ocil-expressing targets. Day 5 IL-2-activated NK (LAK) cells were transduced on 2 consecutive days with Cppt-NKR-P1B vectors at MOI = 40 IU/cell. Cells were centrifuged in 48-well plates at 2000 RPM for 2 hours at room temperature. The mocktransduced and lentiviral-transduced LAK cells were cultured for 3 days before they were used as effectors in a cytokine production assay. Briefly, LAK cells were co-cultured with target cells at a 1:1 ratio in 5 ml centrifuge tubes overnight with brefeldin A. Cells were extracellular stained with anti-NK1.1-APC and intracellular stained with anti-TNFα-PE. Analysis was conducted in flow cytometry. (A) and (B) YAC-1 and P815 (C) and (D) BWZ and BWZ-Ocil were used as target cells. Fold decrease was calculated by: (% TNF-α Positive, YAC-1)/(% TNF-α Positive, P815) or (% TNF-α Positive, BWZ)/(% TNF-α Positive, BWZ-Ocil). Data is representative of 3 experiments. NS, nonsignificant; *, *p* < 0.05.

3.3. Stable shutdown of SHP-1 phosphatase in mature murine NK resulted in loss of cell viability and impaired NK functions

To reiterate, the status of NK cell activity is dependent on the signals generated from the simultaneous engagement of activation and inhibitory receptors.^{60,62,63,180} Because NK inhibitory receptors signal through SHP-1, we wanted to evaluate the functional effects of disrupting the inhibitory signalling pathways by using our current transduction protocol to introduce short hairpin RNA (shRNA) sequences against SHP-1 into primary C57BL/6 LAK cells. We used the shRNA approach because it allowed us to silence SHP-1 in wild type mature NK cells.

3.3.1 TRC clone 28966 mediated efficient SHP-1 shutdown in EL-4 and primary murine IL-2-activated NK cells

To identify shRNA sequences targeting the mouse SHP-1 gene, we searched The RNAi Consortium (TRC) lentiviral shRNA library from Open Biosystems.¹⁷⁴ TRC lentiviral vectors contain a puromycin selection marker that allows us to select for transduced cells. The search returned five constructs available for mouse SHP-1 silencing, TRC clones 28964-68. To identify the clone that mediated most efficient SHP-1 shutdown, we used a murine T lymphoma cell line, EL-4 that has been shown to express SHP-1.¹⁸⁹ EL-4 cells were used to screen each clone because of their high transduction efficiency and fast rate of proliferation. Briefly, we transduced EL-4 cells with each clone, selected for transduced cells with the puromycin marker and assayed for efficiency of SHP-1 shutdown. TRC vector containing shRNA targeting the EGFP gene (designated as shEGFP) was used as a negative control for SHP-1 down-regulation. Analysis by Western Blot and confirmation by intracellular staining in flow cytometry

revealed that TRC clone 28966 mediated the most efficient SHP-1 silencing in EL-4 cells (~85% down-regulation) (Fig 13A and B). Clone 28968 is second with about 60% down-regulation and 28965 yielded no shutdown.



Figure 13. TRC clone 28966 mediated most efficient SHP-1 shutdown in EL-4 cells. EL-4 cells were transduced on two consecutive days by the "spin protocol," with TRC lentiviral vectors and incubated for 3 days post-transduction. Transduced cells were puromycin selected for 24 hours followed by 3 days incubation. Cells were assayed for SHP-1 expression by (A) western blot and (B) intracellular staining with primary rabbit anti-SHP-1 and secondary anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 antibodies in flow cytometry. Data is representative of 2 experiments.

After identifying TRC clone 28966 as the most efficient shRNA sequence for SHP-1 shutdown in EL-4 cells, we wanted to test its efficiency in mature C57BL/6 LAK cells. We transduced LAK cells by the "spin" protocol at MOI = 40 IU/cell (2 rounds in order to increase transduction efficiency), puromycin selected and assayed for SHP-1 protein expression by intracellular staining in flow cytometry. Mock and shEGFP transduced NK cells were used as negative controls for SHP-1 down-regulation. In all of the following experiments, mock NK cells were never subjected to puromycin selection because they were never transduced with TRC vectors. As shown in figure 10, clone 28966 mediated about 85% SHP-1 down-regulation compared to mock and shEGFP (Fig. 14). Therefore, we have identified that clone 28966 mediated efficient SHP-1 shutdown in mouse LAK cells.



Figure 14. TRC clone 28966 mediated efficient SHP-1 shutdown in LAK cells.

Purified C57BL/6 NK cells were incubated in IL-2 supplemented media for 5 days. IL-2 activated cells were transduced on two consecutive days with TRC lentiviral vectors and incubated for 3 days post-transduction. Transduced cells were puromycin selected for 24 hours followed by 3 days incubation. Cells were assayed for SHP-1 expression by intracellular staining with primary rabbit anti-SHP-1 and secondary anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488 antibodies in flow cytometry. Data is representative of 3 experiments.

3.3.2 SHP-1 shutdown impaired IL-2 induced NK cell proliferation

Although shEGFP control transduced and clone 28966 transduced NK cells were subjected to identical experimental protocols and IL-2 supplemented culture conditions, clone 28966 transduced NK cells consistently yielded a lower cell number (data not shown). Therefore, we suspected that the observed lower cell number from clone 28966 transduced NK cells may be due to a lower rate of proliferation compared to mock and shEGFP transduced NK cells. Mock LAK cells were used as a control for normal IL-2 induced proliferation while shEGFP transduced LAK cells were used as a control for normal IL-2 induced proliferation after transduction and puromycin selection. To test this speculation, we labelled mock, shEGFP and clone 28966 transduced NK cells postpuromycin selection with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) and cultured the cells in IL-2 supplemented media. we harvested the cells 7 days after CFSE labelling, stained with anti-CD11b antibody and analyzed in flow cytometry. Upon analysis of CD11b expression, clone 28966 transduced NK cells showed a lower mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) of 30.6 compared to 66.5 and 54.0 MFI in the mock and shEGFP transduced NK cultures, respectively (Fig. 15A). Higher CD11b MFI corresponds with higher rates of cellular proliferation (data not shown). CFSE dilution analysis revealed that clone 28966 transduced NK cells showed a higher MFI of 486 compared to 65 and 151 for mock and EGFP transduced NK cells, respectively (Fig. 15B). Each round of cellular proliferation reduces the MFI in half because the CFSE is partitioned equally to each daughter cell.¹⁹⁰ Therefore, a higher CFSE MFI corresponds with fewer rounds of proliferation. The combination of lower CD11b and higher CFSE MFI in clone 28966

transduced NK cells showed that IL-2 induced cellular proliferation was impaired in SHP-1 down-regulated NK cells.





3.3.3 SHP-1 shutdown in activated NK cells resulted in normal cytotoxicity towards YAC-1 targets

SHP-1 shutdown in NK cells resulted in decreased IL-2 induced cellular proliferation. Therefore we tested whether SHP-1 shutdown in NK cells will disrupt normal NK cytotoxic activity. To test this, clone 28966 transduced and puromycin selected LAK cells were used as effectors in a standard ⁵¹Cr release cytotoxicity assay with YAC-1 as the target cells. YAC-1 is used in NK cytotoxicity assays as NK-sensitive target cells. Mock LAK cells were used as a control for normal cytotoxicity while shEGFP transduced LAK cells were used as a control for normal cytotoxicity after lentiviral transduction and puromycin selection. Contrary to our expectation, the differences in YAC-1 killing at a 1:1 ratio from mock, shEGFP and clone 28966 transduced NK cells were statistically non-significantly (Fig. 16). The percentage of specific lysis of YAC-1 observed from all three NK populations was around 65%.



Figure 16. Down-regulation of SHP-1 protein expression in activated NK cells resulted in normal cytotoxicity towards YAC-1 targets. Purified NK cells were incubated in IL-2 supplemented media for 5 days. IL-2 activated cells were transduced on two consecutive days with TRC lentiviral vectors and incubated for 3 days post-transduction. Transduced cells were puromycin selected for 24 hours followed by 3 days incubation. Cells were then used as effectors (1:1 ratio) in a standard 4-hour ⁵¹Cr cytotoxicity assay. NS, non-significant.

3.3.4. SHP-1 shutdown in mature NK cells resulted in loss of cell viability

SHP-1 shutdown in mature NK cells resulted in decreased IL-2-induced cellular proliferation. These observations prompted us to suspect that perhaps the observed results were linked to a loss of cell viability. We, therefore, assayed for cellular apoptosis and necrosis. We used mock LAK cells as a control for normal apoptosis and necrosis and shEGFP LAK cells as a control for normal apoptosis and necrosis after transduction and puromycin selection. Briefly, we stained mock, EGFP transduced and clone 28966 transduced NK cells with Annexin V and 7-amino actinomycin D (7-AAD) in flow cytometry. Clone 28966 transduced NK cells showed a statistically significant increase in both cellular apoptosis (p < 0.01) and necrosis (p < 0.05) compared to mock and EGFP transduced NK cells. 31.1% of clone 28966 transduced NK cells were undergoing apoptosis compared to 13.6% of mock and 19.3% of EGFP transduced NK cells (Fig. 17). 10.6% of clone 28966 transduced NK cells were undergoing necrosis compared to 4.3% of mock transduced and 5.6% of EGFP transduced NK cells.



Figure 17. SHP-1 shutdown in mature activated NK cells resulted in loss of cell viability. Purified NK cells were incubated in IL-2 supplemented media for 5 days. IL-2 activated cells were transduced on two consecutive days with TRC lentiviral vectors and incubated for 3 days post-transduction. Transduced cells were puromycin selected for 24 hours followed by 3 days incubation. Cells were then assayed for apoptosis and necrosis by staining with Annevin V-PE and 7-amino actinomycin D (7-AAD) in flow cytometry. Data is representative of 3 experiments. NS, non-significant; *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01.

3.3.5. SHP-1 shutdown in mature NK cells resulted in increased spontaneous degranulation

The balance of signals generated from simultaneous ligand interaction with inhibitory and activating receptors function to control NK-mediated self-nonself discrimination.⁴⁴ Normal cells predominantly express ligands for inhibitory receptors. This skews the balance of receptor signalling towards attenuation of NK cell activity leading to self-tolerance.^{37,64} We hypothesized that by silencing SHP-1, the signals generated from inhibitory receptor-ligand interactions are disrupted. As a result, inhibitory signals no longer predominate and NK self-tolerance is broken. To determine if SHP-1 down-regulated NK cells remained self-tolerant, we conducted CD107a degranulation assays on each NK culture. Mock LAK cells were used as a control for normal degranulation and shEGFP LAK cells were used as a control for normal degranulation after transduction and puromycin selection. Briefly, we evaluated NK cell CD107a degranulation on days 1, 2, 3 and 7 after puromycin selection by incubating mock, shEGFP transduced and clone 28966 transduced NK cells with anti-CD107a antibody and monensin for 5 and 4 hours, respectively, before analysis in flow cytometry. If SHP-1 silenced NK cells mediate cytotoxic activity against each other in culture due to a loss in self-tolerance, we would be able to detect increased CD107a degranulation. On day 1 after puromycin selection, 5.9% of clone 28966 transduced NK cells showed degranulation activity compared to 2.7% and 2.9% degranulation from mock and shEGFP transduced NK cells, respectively (Fig. 18). The differences, however, were not statistically significant. On day 2 after puromycin selection, 3.7% of clone 28966 transduced NK cells showed degranulation activity compared to 1.0% and 1.4% degranulation from mock and shEGFP transduced NK cells, respectively. The differences

were statistically significant (p < 0.05). On day 3 after puromycin selection, clone 28966 transduced NK cells continued to show a significant increase in CD107a degranulation compared to mock and shEGFP transduced NK cells (p < 0.0001). Eight point three percent (8.3%) of clone 28966 transduced NK cells showed degranulation activity compared to 2.5% and 2.4% degranulation from mock and shEGFP transduced NK cells, respectively. The statistically significant increase in degranulation (p < 0.0001) continued to day 7 where 6.9% of clone 28966 transduced NK cells showed degranulation activity compared to 1.9% and 2.1% degranulation from mock and shEGFP transduced NK cells, respectively. These results showed that down-regulation of SHP-1 caused NK cells to undergo increased spontaneous degranulation suggesting that SHP-1 plays a role in NK-mediated self-tolerance and prevention of autoimmunity. In addition, the enhanced degranulation and activation may lead to NK cell cycle arrest. As a result, a proportion of the arrested cells may start to undergo cell death, therefore, explaining the loss of cell viability and impaired IL-2 induced cellular proliferation.



Figure 18. SHP-1 shutdown in activated NK cells resulted in increased spontaneous degranulation. Purified NK cells were incubated in IL-2 supplemented media for 5 days. IL-2 activated cells were transduced on two consecutive days with TRC lentiviral vectors and incubated for 3 days post-transduction. Transduced cells were puromycin selected for 24 hours followed by 1, 2, 3 or 7 days incubation. Cells were then used in a CD107a degranulation assay. Briefly, cells were incubated with anti-CD107a-PE antibody and monensin in 5 ml centrifuge tubes for 5 and 4 hours, respectively, at 37°C before analysis in flow cytometry. Data is representative of 3 experiments. NS, non-significant; *, p < 0.05; ***, p < 0.0001.

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

Multiple activation and inhibitory receptors are expressed on the surface of mature NK cells and their progenitors. The underlying role of NK cell receptor signalling in NK differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance remains unclear. We are interested in studying the cellular factors and molecular signalling mechanisms involved in NK differentiation and target recognition. However, the current lack of an experimental system that will allow us to differentially study a protein's function(s) in primary NK progenitors, resting and activated primary NK cells presents a limitation in these studies.

Genetic modification of primary NK cells has been a major challenge because they are relatively resistant to exogenous gene transfer. The use of adenoviral vectors as a vehicle for gene delivery into NK cells is ineffective because NK cells do not express the appropriate receptors required for transduction.¹⁹¹ Non-viral based gene transfer methods such as transfection and particle mediated gene gun delivery showed gene delivery that is of transient nature.¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁴ Stable and efficient gene delivery into primary human IL-2activated NK (LAK) cells have been reported using retroviral and lentiviral vectors.^{135,143,144} It remains to be examined whether lentiviral vectors support efficient transduction of primary mouse NK cells, especially the freshly isolated, unstimulated NK (progenitors) cells. Therefore, I examined the ability of lentiviral vectors to introduce stable genetic modification of primary mouse NK cells under minimal in vitro manipulation (such as cytokine activation and viral vectors exposure). I focused on a single-step transduction protocol that involved 1-2 hours of viral vector incubation (Fig. 2). I evaluated the use of a centrifugation-based virus inoculation method in achieving efficient NK transduction at lower virus concentration (MOI: 20 and 4 IU/cell) (Fig. 2). I

also examined the need of IL-2 activation in lentiviral vector-mediated transduction (Fig. 7). My data collectively demonstrated that lentiviral vectors in a 1-hour centrifugationbased inoculation stably transduced 30-40% of primary NK cells. The spin protocol yields a higher transduction efficiency of the NK cells at lower MOI when compared to that obtained in the "no-spin" 2-hour incubation protocol. I demonstrated that IL-2 augmented transgene expression in the transduced NK cells in vitro. However, it is not required for efficient lentiviral transduction of primary NK cells. To my knowledge, I provided the first demonstration that lentiviral vectors are able to transduce resting NK and differentiating NK cells derived from the transduced hematopoietic progenitor cells without the need of prior cytokine activation. These data are of high relevance to genetic manipulation of human and mouse NK cells. First, in the studies of NK cell activation and differentiation, it is now possible to modify ex vivo purified NK (progenitor) cells to harbour the genetic changes before cytokine-induced activation in culture conditions in vitro. Second, the ability to repopulate genetically modified NK cells in the immunodeficient animals (such as RAG2-/- γ c-/- mice)^{142,146,195} will allow the evaluation of human and mouse NK cell differentiation or gene therapy in vivo.

My current study highlights the flexibility of the use of lentiviral vectors in genetic manipulation of primary NK cells. First, I demonstrated that VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vector transduction did not alter surface expression of the NK receptors (NKG2A/C/E, Ly49C+I, Ly49F, NKG2D and NK1.1) that are commonly used in defining murine NK subsets (Fig. 4A). It thus suggests that VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vector transduction is not biased against particular NK subset(s) and is suitable for transduction of polyclonal NK cells. With the recent advances in engineering of other

viral envelope proteins for lentiviral vector pseudotyping, targeting (and genetic engineering) a specific NK subset both in vitro and in vivo is possible.¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁸ Second, I studied EGFP reporter gene expression under the control of different internal promoters (RhMLV and Ubi-C promoter) in transduced NK cells and found that the viral internal RhMLV promoter allowed 3-fold higher expression (MFI) of EGFP in the transduced cells compared to that of the Ubi-C promoter (Fig. 3). Thus, the level of transgene expression in the modified NK cells, if desired, can be regulated by the choice of internal promoters (such as Ubi-C, RhMLV, CMV) used in the lentiviral vectors. Third, I showed that lentiviral transduction did not effect normal NK cell function, such as, cytotoxicity and cytokine production. It remains to be determined, however, why the sorted EGFP control LAK cells (from the transduced culture) consistently exhibited a slightly higher cytotoxicity when compared to the unsorted mock-transduced LAK control. I speculate that the LAK cells are somehow activated by the cell sorting process. Another possibility is that exposure to lentiviral vectors has some activating effects on the cells. Lastly, I used here an EGFP reporter gene to demonstrate the ability of the lentiviral vector system to over-express the transgene of interest in primary NK cells. My supervisor and others have also developed similar lentiviral vector systems to deliver short hairpin RNA to down-regulate target gene expression via RNA interference.¹⁹⁹⁻²⁰¹ Therefore, this current transduction protocol can be used to introduce a target gene-specific shRNA sequence(s) into primary NK cells to down-regulate its protein expression. The ability to over-express or down-regulate genes of interest will allow me to study a protein's function(s) in NK differentiation, acquisition of self-tolerance and NK-target interactions.

In my second study, I used the lentiviral-mediated gene delivery protocol to test the hypothesis that over-expression of the inhibitory receptor, NKR-P1B on <u>primary</u> <u>mouse LAK cells</u> will skew the balance of NK receptor signalling towards inhibition. I showed that NKR-P1B over-expression resulted in decreased NK cytotoxicity and TNF- α production upon interaction with target cells expressing Ocil, the ligand for NKR-P1B.⁴³

CD107a degranulation assays demonstrated that NK cytotoxic activity can be altered by over-expressing NKR-P1B. The target specificities for NK-sensitive YAC-1 and NK-resistant P815 target cells were maintained even though I over-expressed NKR-P1B on the effector NK cells (Fig. 11A). However, NKR-P1B over-expression resulted in decreased CD107a degranulation against BWZ-Ocil cells compared to parental BWZ cells (2.6 fold decrease) (Fig. 11B and C). Although mock and NKR-P1B⁻ NK cells also exhibited decreases in CD107a degranulation against BWZ-Ocil cells (1.2 and 1.3 fold decreases, respectively), the decrease from NKR-P1B⁺ NK cells was significantly higher (p < 0.0001 and p < 0.01, respectively).

In addition to cytotoxicity, TNF- α production can also be altered by NKR-P1B over-expression. The specificities of TNF- α production against YAC-1 and P815 were maintained in NKR-P1B expressing NK cells (Fig. 12A). However, when comparing TNF- α production against BWZ and BWZ-Ocil, NKR-P1B⁺ cells produced 2.0 fold less TNF- α against BWZ-Ocil. This difference was significantly higher than the 1.3 fold decrease observed from mock and NKR-P1B⁻ NK cells (figures 12B and C).

It is very interesting to observe differences in both cytotoxicity and cytokine production between BWZ and BWZ-Ocil in the mock and NKR-P1B⁻ NK cell

populations. Results should be similar since mock and NKR-P1B⁻ NK cells are not expressing the NKR-P1B receptor. One possible explanation is that from genomic studies, BALB/c NK cells are believed to express an endogenous receptor for Ocil. It has not yet been identified because of a lack in antibodies able to detect receptor expression.

It is well documented that the outcome of an NK-target interaction is determined by the balance of signals generated by simultaneous engagement of activation and inhibitory receptors.¹¹⁷ However, most of these studies focused on the manipulation of NK receptor ligands on target tumour cell lines *in vitro*.^{202,203} Unlike these past studies, direct manipulation of NK receptor expression will enable us to enhance NK target recognition. My work demonstrated our ability to over-express an NK receptor on <u>mouse</u> <u>LAK cells</u> to skew the balance of receptor signalling between inhibitory and activating receptors, leading to an altered NK-target interaction. Direct manipulation of NK receptor expression will provide a novel approach to exploring the therapeutic potential of NK cells. In addition, it is possible to construct chimeric receptors that define new NK target specificities. This will recruit the NK-mediated arm of immunity to control microorganisms, viruses or tumours that are currently able to evade NK cytotoxicity.²⁰⁴⁻ 207

NKR-P1B along with other NK cell inhibitory receptors mediate their signalling through the recruitment and activation of Src Homology 2 Domain-Containing Tyrosine Phosphatase-1 (SHP-1) that goes on to attenuate activation molecules such as LAT, PLCγ, SLP-76, ZAP70 and Syk.^{91,108-110} Therefore, an alternative to manipulating the balance of receptor signalling besides over-expressing receptors is to silence molecules involved in receptor signalling. For example, silencing SHP-1, a molecule involved in

effector inhibition,^{33,106,112} may disrupt NK cell inhibitory receptor signalling and skew the balance towards activation of NK cell activity. However, SHP-1 is not specific to NK receptors because it is involved in other signalling pathways. Therefore, to address receptor signalling, I can cross-link and engage specific NK inhibitory receptors (such as Ly49C and I) with antibodies to test whether down-regulation of SHP-1 protein expression disrupts NK inhibitory receptor signalling function.

For my third study, I demonstrated the effects of down-regulating SHP-1 protein expression in mature LAK cells. SHP-1 shutdown in mature LAK cells resulted in impaired IL-2-induced cellular proliferation, normal cytotoxicity against YAC-1 target cells, loss of cell viability and increased spontaneous degranulation.

Previous studies have demonstrated the effects of disrupting SHP-1 enzymatic activity on NK cell function. Over-expression of a catalytically inactive, dominantnegative form of SHP-1 (dnSHP-1) in human and mouse NK cells resulted in decreased MHC-Class I mediated inhibition of cytotoxicity.^{103,111} In addition, NK cells isolated from dnSHP-1 or SHP-1 knockout mice (motheaten, *me* and motheaten viable, *me^ν* mice show complete and partial loss of enzymatic activity, respectively) were less cytotoxic against target cells compared to wild-type mice.^{111,115,208} However, results from dnSHP-1 or SHP-1 KO mice suffered from a couple of caveats. For example, wild type SHP-1 enzymatic activity may still exist in dnSHP-1 NK cells. There may be unknown side effects from competition between wild type SHP-1 and dnSHP-1 in the NK cells. Also, NK cells isolated from SHP-1 KO mice may be suffering from secondary effects due to over-activated macrophages/monocytes.^{115,116} Therefore, it remained to be determined whether the effects associated with a loss of SHP-1 function in the transgenic mice

represented a summation of direct NK defects in its differentiation pathway, and/or a defect in mature NK cell function.

I began by showing that TRC clone 28966 mediated about 85% SHP-1 shutdown in mature LAK NK cells. Despite the fact that the SHP-1 shutdown is not 100% (which is rarely observed in shRNA-mediated RNA interference), I found that SHP-1 "knocked down" NK cells have a lower cell number compared to mock or shEGFP transduced NK cells. This suggested to me that cellular proliferation may be affected by SHP-1 shutdown. When I investigated NK cell proliferation by CFSE and CD11b staining, the results showed that SHP-1 down-regulated NK cells were impaired in IL-2 induced proliferation (Fig. 15). This impaired proliferation immediately informed me that SHP-1 shutdown had profound effects on NK cells. I subsequently studied whether NK cell cytotoxicity was affected by down-regulation of SHP-1. The NK-sensitive cell line, YAC-1 was used as target cells. SHP-1 shutdown in mature NK cells resulted in normal cytotoxicity towards YAC-1 target cells (Fig.16).

The observation of impaired proliferation prompted me to suspect that downregulation of SHP-1 was affecting NK cell viability. I therefore analyzed NK cell apoptosis and necrosis. Analysis of cell viability by Annexin V and 7-amino actinomycin D (7-AAD) revealed that SHP-1 shutdown resulted in NK cells that showed increased apoptosis and necrosis compared to mock- and shEGFP-transduced NK cells (Fig. 17). This raised the question of why does down-regulation of SHP-1 in NK cells result in a loss in cell viability?

It is well known that NK cells discriminate between self and non-self by engaging its inhibitory receptors with MHC Class I expressed on target cells.^{37,64} Inhibitory signals

will predominate upon MHC Class I ligation thereby preventing NK-mediated autoimmunity. I, therefore, reasoned that if inhibitory receptor signalling was disrupted by SHP-1 down-regulation, NK cells may no longer be self-tolerant. CD107a degranulation analysis revealed that NK cells with down-regulated SHP-1 expression underwent increased spontaneous degranulation (Fig. 18). This suggested that downregulating SHP-1 resulted in NK cells that were mediating cytotoxicity against each other. Increased NK activity against each other may help to explain the increased apoptosis and necrosis. The results obtained in this study revealed a very important role for SHP-1 in mature NK cells. SHP-1 plays a role in transmitting the inhibitory signals generated by binding of self ligands leading to NK cell self-tolerance and prevention of autoimmunity.

Future Directions

My current work focused on manipulating the balance of receptor signalling (the NKR-P1B inhibitory receptor and SHP-1 phosphatase) in <u>mature NK cells</u> to study the effects of altering receptor signalling on NK-target interactions. Future work will study the role of these molecules in NK differentiation. Building on the results from over-expressing NKR-P1B in mature BALB/c LAK, I plan to study the effects of manipulating the balance of receptor signalling on NK differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance by over-expressing NKR-P1B on NK progenitor cells. NKR-P1B-Ocil engagement will skew the balance of receptor signalling towards inhibitory on the NK progenitor cell as it progresses through the stages of NK differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance. I plan to transduce wild type BALB/c NK progenitors with Cppt-NKR-P1B lentiviral

vectors followed by differentiation by both *in vitro* culture conditions and *in vivo* reconstitution in RAG2-/-yc-/- immunodeficient mice. I have demonstrated the ability to differentiate NK progenitors into mature NK cells both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (figure 8 and appendix figure ii). Briefly, *in vitro* NK differentiation involves initial culturing of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in IL-7, SCF, and Flt3L. This allows HSCs to differentiate into NK precursors (NKPs). Further culturing in IL-15 allows the NKPs to progress into immature NKs (iNKs). Interaction of iNKs with OP9 stromal cells allow them to mature into fully functional NK cells. The mature NK cell phenotype and functions will be compared to wild type non-transduced cells. Results obtained in this study will demonstrate the effects of increasing inhibitory signalling, NKR-P1B in particular, on NK differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance. In addition, these results will be compared to the results obtained from over-expressing NKR-P1B in mature NK cells. This will allow for the comparison of effects arising from NKR-P1B over-expression at the progenitor NK and mature NK cell level.

We will study NK differentiation in the absence of the ligand (Ocil) of the NKR-P1B inhibitory receptor *in vitro*. I can use the lentiviral transduction protocol to introduce shRNA sequences against Ocil into OP9 stromal cells. We will test whether downregulation of Ocil expression in OP9 stromal cells will decrease inhibitory signalling during the course of NK differentiation. I have already demonstrated that TRC clone 65883 is able to mediate about 95% Ocil down-regulation in OP9 (appendix figure iii). I plan on differentiating enriched wild type BALB/c NK progenitors by *in vitro* culture conditions. I will compare the phenotype and function of NK cells differentiated on Ocildown-regulated OP9 cells versus NK cells differentiated on wild type OP9 cells. The
results obtained in this study will complement the results obtained from over-expressing NKR-P1B in NK progenitors. Manipulating NKR-P1B expression on NK progenitors will provide insights from the perspective of manipulating the NK receptors while Ocil down-regulation will provide insights from the perspective of manipulating the receptor ligands.

Lastly, I plan to study the role of SHP-1 in NK differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance. Because SHP-1 is a crucial molecule involved in inhibitory receptor signalling, down-regulating SHP-1 in NK progenitors will disrupt signalling from NKR-P1B and other inhibitory receptors during differentiation and acquisition of selftolerance. I plan on transducing wild type C57BL/6 NK progenitors with shRNA targeting the SHP-1 gene (TRC clone 28966). Non-transduced and shEGFP transduced progenitors will be used as controls. Transduced NK progenitors will be differentiated by both in vitro culture conditions and in vivo reconstitution in RAG2-/-yc-/immunodeficient mice. The mature NK cell phenotype and functions will be compared to non-transduced and shEGFP transduced NK cells. The results obtained this study will serve three functions. First, it will show the role of SHP-1 in NK differentiation and acquisition of self-tolerance. Second, the results will be compared with the results obtained from studies involving SHP-1 knockout (me and me^{ν}) mice. My protocol however, has an advantage over studies involving SHP-1 knockout mice because I will use wild type NK progenitor cells. These wild type progenitor cells have not been exposed to the chronic inflammatory environment as seen in me and me^{ν} mice. As a result, any secondary effects from over-activated macrophages/monocytes are avoided.

Lastly, the results will allow me to compare the effects of SHP-1 down-regulation at the progenitor NK and mature NK cell level.

In summary, I have established the lentiviral transduction platform to overexpress receptors or silence signalling molecules at the progenitor stem cell and mature NK cell levels. To address my global hypothesis that the balance of signals between activation and inhibitory receptors will effect NK differentiation, acquisition of self tolerance and NK-target interactions, I used a receptor-signalling pair (NKR-P1B-Ocil and SHP-1) to manipulate mature NK-target cell recognition. By over-expressing NKR-P1B in mature NK cells and skewing the NK activity outcome towards decreased cytotoxicity and TNF- α production against the target cell, I proved that it is possible to directly manipulate NK cell receptor expression leading to an altered degree of NK target recognition.

My work will setup a novel platform for us to study a protein's function(s) in NK differentiation and the molecular mechanism underlying acquisition of NK cell self-tolerance.

Future work will study this receptor pair at the NK progenitor level. These data, collectively will allow us to formally address our global hypothesis that induction of the same receptor signalling at different states of NK cells will produce different functional outcomes in NK differentiation and target recognition.

Appendix



Figure i. Schematic representation of vector genomes.



Figure ii. Mature NK cells differentiated *in vitro* from hematopoietic stem cells.

Hematopoietic stem cells were enriched from C57BL/6 bone marrow cells using StemCell EasySep Mouse Progenitor Stem Cell Negative Selection kit. Cells were incubated in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 0.5 ng/ml of mIL-7, 30 ng/ml of SCF and 50 ng/ml of Flt3L for 5 days. Old media was removed and replaced with RPMI 1640 supplemented with 30 ng/ml of IL-15 for 5 days. Lastly, cells were incubated with OP9 stromal cells for 5 days. Cell surface receptors were analyzed by staining with CD3-PECy5, NK1.1-PE, Ly49C/I/F/H-APC and Ly49A-APC in flow cytometry.



Figure iii. TRC clone 65883 mediated efficient Ocil shutdown in OP9 stromal cells. OP9 cells were transduced with TRC lentiviral vectors and incubated for 3 days post-transduction. Transduced cell were puromycin ($64 \mu g/ml$) selected for 72 hours followed by 3 days incubation. Cells were assayed for Ocil expression by staining with anti-Ocilbiotin and streptavidin-FITC antibodies in flow cytometry.

References

- 1. Cerwenka, A. & Lanier, L. L. Natural killer cells, viruses and cancer. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* **1**, 41-49 (2001).
- 2. Yokoyama, W. M. & Kim, S. How do natural killer cells find self to achieve tolerance? *Immunity*. **24**, 249-257 (2006).
- 3. Yokoyama, W. M., Kim, S., & French, A. R. The dynamic life of natural killer cells. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* **22**, 405-429 (2004).
- 4. Brady, J., Hayakawa, Y., Smyth, M. J., & Nutt, S. L. IL-21 induces the functional maturation of murine NK cells. *J.Immunol.* **172**, 2048-2058 (2004).
- Smyth, M. J., Taniguchi, M., & Street, S. E. The anti-tumor activity of IL-12: mechanisms of innate immunity that are model and dose dependent. *J.Immunol.* 165, 2665-2670 (2000).
- 6. Smyth, M. J. *et al.* NKG2D recognition and perforin effector function mediate effective cytokine immunotherapy of cancer. *J.Exp.Med.* **200**, 1325-1335 (2004).
- 7. Davis, D. M. & Dustin, M. L. What is the importance of the immunological synapse? *Trends Immunol.* **25**, 323-327 (2004).
- 8. Millard, P. J., Henkart, M. P., Reynolds, C. W., & Henkart, P. A. Purification and properties of cytoplasmic granules from cytotoxic rat LGL tumors. *J.Immunol.* **132**, 3197-3204 (1984).
- 9. Sauer, H., Pratsch, L., Tschopp, J., Bhakdi, S., & Peters, R. Functional size of complement and perforin pores compared by confocal laser scanning microscopy and fluorescence microphotolysis. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* **1063**, 137-146 (1991).
- 10. Tschopp, J., Masson, D., & Stanley, K. K. Structural/functional similarity between proteins involved in complement- and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-mediated cytolysis. *Nature* **322**, 831-834 (1986).
- 11. Froelich, C. J. *et al.* New paradigm for lymphocyte granule-mediated cytotoxicity. Target cells bind and internalize granzyme B, but an endosomolytic agent is necessary for cytosolic delivery and subsequent apoptosis. *J.Biol.Chem.* **271**, 29073-29079 (1996).
- 12. Pinkoski, M. J. *et al.* Entry and trafficking of granzyme B in target cells during granzyme B-perforin-mediated apoptosis. *Blood* **92**, 1044-1054 (1998).

- 13. Shi, L. *et al.* Granzyme B (GraB) autonomously crosses the cell membrane and perforin initiates apoptosis and GraB nuclear localization. *J.Exp.Med.* **185**, 855-866 (1997).
- 14. Metkar, S. S. *et al.* Cytotoxic cell granule-mediated apoptosis: perforin delivers granzyme B-serglycin complexes into target cells without plasma membrane pore formation. *Immunity.* **16**, 417-428 (2002).
- 15. Pipkin, M. E. & Lieberman, J. Delivering the kiss of death: progress on understanding how perforin works. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* **19**, 301-308 (2007).
- 16. Lieberman, J. & Fan, Z. Nuclear war: the granzyme A-bomb. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* **15**, 553-559 (2003).
- 17. Lord, S. J., Rajotte, R. V., Korbutt, G. S., & Bleackley, R. C. Granzyme B: a natural born killer. *Immunol. Rev.* **193**, 31-38 (2003).
- 18. Russell, J. H. & Ley, T. J. Lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* **20**, 323-370 (2002).
- 19. Wowk, M. E. & Trapani, J. A. Cytotoxic activity of the lymphocyte toxin granzyme B. *Microbes. Infect.* **6**, 752-758 (2004).
- 20. Alter, G., Malenfant, J. M., & Altfeld, M. CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity. *J.Immunol.Methods* **294**, 15-22 (2004).
- 21. Walczak, H. & Krammer, P. H. The CD95 (APO-1/Fas) and the TRAIL (APO-2L) apoptosis systems. *Exp. Cell Res.* **256**, 58-66 (2000).
- 22. Walczak, H., Bouchon, A., Stahl, H., & Krammer, P. H. Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand retains its apoptosis-inducing capacity on Bcl-2- or Bcl-xL-overexpressing chemotherapy-resistant tumor cells. *Cancer Res.* **60**, 3051-3057 (2000).
- Bancroft, G. J., Schreiber, R. D., Bosma, G. C., Bosma, M. J., & Unanue, E. R. A T cell-independent mechanism of macrophage activation by interferon-gamma. *J.Immunol.* 139, 1104-1107 (1987).
- 24. Bancroft, G. J., Sheehan, K. C., Schreiber, R. D., & Unanue, E. R. Tumor necrosis factor is involved in the T cell-independent pathway of macrophage activation in scid mice. *J.Immunol.* **143**, 127-130 (1989).
- 25. Korbel, D. S., Finney, O. C., & Riley, E. M. Natural killer cells and innate immunity to protozoan pathogens. *Int.J. Parasitol.* **34**, 1517-1528 (2004).
- 26. Orange, J. S., Wang, B., Terhorst, C., & Biron, C. A. Requirement for natural killer cell-produced interferon gamma in defense against murine

cytomegalovirus infection and enhancement of this defense pathway by interleukin 12 administration. *J.Exp.Med.* **182**, 1045-1056 (1995).

- 27. Vivier, E., Tomasello, E., Baratin, M., Walzer, T., & Ugolini, S. Functions of natural killer cells. *Nat.Immunol.* **9**, 503-510 (2008).
- 28. Bluman, E. M., Bartynski, K. J., Avalos, B. R., & Caligiuri, M. A. Human natural killer cells produce abundant macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha in response to monocyte-derived cytokines. *J.Clin.Invest* **97**, 2722-2727 (1996).
- 29. Fehniger, T. A. *et al.* Natural killer cells from HIV-1+ patients produce C-C chemokines and inhibit HIV-1 infection. *J.Immunol.* **161**, 6433-6438 (1998).
- Oliva, A. *et al.* Natural killer cells from human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected individuals are an important source of CC-chemokines and suppress HIV-1 entry and replication in vitro. *J.Clin.Invest* 102, 223-231 (1998).
- 31. Kung, S. K. & Miller, R. G. The NK1.1 antigen in NK-mediated F1 antiparent killing in vitro. *J.Immunol.* **154**, 1624-1633 (1995).
- 32. Kung, S. K. & Miller, R. G. Mouse natural killer subsets defined by their target specificity and their ability to be separately rendered unresponsive in vivo. *J. Immunol.* **158**, 2616-2626 (1997).
- 33. Kung, S. K., Su, R. C., Shannon, J., & Miller, R. G. The NKR-P1B gene product is an inhibitory receptor on SJL/J NK cells. *J.Immunol.* **162**, 5876-5887 (1999).
- 34. Kung, S. K., Su, R. C., Shannon, J., & Miller, R. G. Characterization of four new monoclonal antibodies that recognize mouse natural killer activation receptors. *Hybridoma* **20**, 91-101 (2001).
- 35. Lanier, L. L. Face off--the interplay between activating and inhibitory immune receptors. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **13**, 326-331 (2001).
- 36. Moretta, A. *et al.* Existence of both inhibitory (p58) and activatory (p50) receptors for HLA-C molecules in human natural killer cells. *J.Exp.Med.* **182**, 875-884 (1995).
- 37. Raulet, D. H. & Vance, R. E. Self-tolerance of natural killer cells. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* **6**, 520-531 (2006).
- 38. Anderson, S. K., Ortaldo, J. R., & McVicar, D. W. The ever-expanding Ly49 gene family: repertoire and signaling. *Immunol. Rev.* 181, 79-89 (2001).

- 39. Yokoyama, W. M. & Seaman, W. E. The Ly-49 and NKR-P1 gene families encoding lectin-like receptors on natural killer cells: the NK gene complex. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **11**, 613-635 (1993).
- 40. Braud, V. M. *et al.* HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. *Nature* **391**, 795-799 (1998).
- Vance, R. E., Kraft, J. R., Altman, J. D., Jensen, P. E., & Raulet, D. H. Mouse CD94/NKG2A is a natural killer cell receptor for the nonclassical major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecule Qa-1(b). *J.Exp.Med.* 188, 1841-1848 (1998).
- 42. Held, W., Coudert, J. D., & Zimmer, J. The NK cell receptor repertoire: formation, adaptation and exploitation. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* **15**, 233-237 (2003).
- Carlyle, J. R. *et al.* Missing self-recognition of Ocil/Clr-b by inhibitory NKR-P1 natural killer cell receptors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 101, 3527-3532 (2004).
- 44. Voigt, S. *et al.* Cytomegalovirus evasion of innate immunity by subversion of the NKR-P1B:Clr-b missing-self axis. *Immunity.* **26**, 617-627 (2007).
- 45. Hao, L., Klein, J., & Nei, M. Heterogeneous but conserved natural killer receptor gene complexes in four major orders of mammals. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* **103**, 3192-3197 (2006).
- 46. Mesci, A., Ljutic, B., Makrigiannis, A. P., & Carlyle, J. R. NKR-P1 biology: from prototype to missing self. *Immunol.Res.* **35**, 13-26 (2006).
- 47. Bauer, S. *et al.* Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. *Science* **285**, 727-729 (1999).
- 48. Cerwenka, A. *et al.* Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. *Immunity.* **12**, 721-727 (2000).
- 49. Cosman, D. *et al.* ULBPs, novel MHC class I-related molecules, bind to CMV glycoprotein UL16 and stimulate NK cytotoxicity through the NKG2D receptor. *Immunity.* **14**, 123-133 (2001).
- 50. Diefenbach, A., Jamieson, A. M., Liu, S. D., Shastri, N., & Raulet, D. H. Ligands for the murine NKG2D receptor: expression by tumor cells and activation of NK cells and macrophages. *Nat.Immunol.* **1**, 119-126 (2000).

- 51. Diefenbach, A. & Raulet, D. H. The innate immune response to tumors and its role in the induction of T-cell immunity. *Immunol.Rev.* **188**, 9-21 (2002).
- 52. Moretta, A. *et al.* Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **19**, 197-223 (2001).
- 53. Lanier, L. L. NKG2D. J.Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 17, 338-340 (2003).
- 54. Raulet, D. H. Roles of the NKG2D immunoreceptor and its ligands. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* **3**, 781-790 (2003).
- 55. Mandelboim, O. *et al.* Protection from lysis by natural killer cells of group 1 and 2 specificity is mediated by residue 80 in human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen C alleles and also occurs with empty major histocompatibility complex molecules. *J. Exp. Med.* **184**, 913-922 (1996).
- 56. Smith, H. R. *et al.* Recognition of a virus-encoded ligand by a natural killer cell activation receptor. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* **99**, 8826-8831 (2002).
- 57. Karlhofer, F. M. & Yokoyama, W. M. Stimulation of murine natural killer (NK) cells by a monoclonal antibody specific for the NK1.1 antigen. IL-2activated NK cells possess additional specific stimulation pathways. *J.Immunol.* **146**, 3662-3673 (1991).
- 58. Ljunggren, H. G. & Karre, K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol.Today* **11**, 237-244 (1990).
- Lanier, L. L. Natural killer cell receptor signaling. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 15, 308-314 (2003).
- 60. Lanier, L. L. Natural killer cells: from no receptors to too many. *Immunity*.6, 371-378 (1997).
- 61. Moretta, L. *et al.* Human natural killer cells: their origin, receptors and function. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **32**, 1205-1211 (2002).
- 62. Raulet, D. H. & Held, W. Natural killer cell receptors: the offs and ons of NK cell recognition. *Cell* **82**, 697-700 (1995).
- 63. Yokoyama, W. M., Reichlin, A., Margulies, D. H., & Smith, H. R. MHC class I-dependent and -independent NK cell specificity. *Chem.Immunol.* **64**, 1-18 (1996).
- 64. Kumar, V. & McNerney, M. E. A new self: MHC-class-I-independent natural-killer-cell self-tolerance. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* **5**, 363-374 (2005).

- 65. Karre, K., Ljunggren, H. G., Piontek, G., & Kiessling, R. Selective rejection of H-2-deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defence strategy. *Nature* **319**, 675-678 (1986).
- 66. Fauci, A. S., Mavilio, D., & Kottilil, S. NK cells in HIV infection: paradigm for protection or targets for ambush. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **5**, 835-843 (2005).
- 67. Tomasello, E., Blery, M., Vely, F., & Vivier, E. Signaling pathways engaged by NK cell receptors: double concerto for activating receptors, inhibitory receptors and NK cells. *Semin.Immunol.* **12**, 139-147 (2000).
- 68. Arase, N. *et al.* Association with FcRgamma is essential for activation signal through NKR-P1 (CD161) in natural killer (NK) cells and NK1.1+ T cells. *J.Exp.Med.* **186**, 1957-1963 (1997).
- 69. Lanier, L. L., Corliss, B. C., Wu, J., Leong, C., & Phillips, J. H. Immunoreceptor DAP12 bearing a tyrosine-based activation motif is involved in activating NK cells. *Nature* **391**, 703-707 (1998).
- Lanier, L. L., Corliss, B., Wu, J., & Phillips, J. H. Association of DAP12 with activating CD94/NKG2C NK cell receptors. *Immunity*. 8, 693-701 (1998).
- 71. Pessino, A. *et al.* Molecular cloning of NKp46: a novel member of the immunoglobulin superfamily involved in triggering of natural cytotoxicity. *J.Exp.Med.* **188**, 953-960 (1998).
- 72. Tomasello, E. *et al.* Gene structure, expression pattern, and biological activity of mouse killer cell activating receptor-associated protein (KARAP)/DAP-12. *J.Biol.Chem.* **273**, 34115-34119 (1998).
- 73. Vitale, M. *et al.* NKp44, a novel triggering surface molecule specifically expressed by activated natural killer cells, is involved in non-major histocompatibility complex-restricted tumor cell lysis. *J.Exp.Med.* **187**, 2065-2072 (1998).
- 74. Fodor, S., Jakus, Z., & Mocsai, A. ITAM-based signaling beyond the adaptive immune response. *Immunol.Lett.* **104**, 29-37 (2006).
- 75. Palacios, E. H. & Weiss, A. Function of the Src-family kinases, Lck and Fyn, in T-cell development and activation. *Oncogene* **23**, 7990-8000 (2004).
- van Oers, N. S. & Weiss, A. The Syk/ZAP-70 protein tyrosine kinase connection to antigen receptor signalling processes. *Semin.Immunol.* 7, 227-236 (1995).

- 77. Chan, A. C., Iwashima, M., Turck, C. W., & Weiss, A. ZAP-70: a 70 kd protein-tyrosine kinase that associates with the TCR zeta chain. *Cell* **71**, 649-662 (1992).
- Chu, D. H. *et al.* The Syk protein tyrosine kinase can function independently of CD45 or Lck in T cell antigen receptor signaling. *EMBO J.* 15, 6251-6261 (1996).
- 79. Kolanus, W., Romeo, C., & Seed, B. T cell activation by clustered tyrosine kinases. *Cell* **74**, 171-183 (1993).
- 80. Zoller, K. E., MacNeil, I. A., & Brugge, J. S. Protein tyrosine kinases Syk and ZAP-70 display distinct requirements for Src family kinases in immune response receptor signal transduction. *J.Immunol.* **158**, 1650-1659 (1997).
- 81. Pao, L. I. & Cambier, J. C. Syk, but not Lyn, recruitment to B cell antigen receptor and activation following stimulation of. *J. Immunol.* **158**, 2663-2669 (1997).
- 82. Hatada, M. H. *et al.* Molecular basis for interaction of the protein tyrosine kinase ZAP-70 with the T-cell receptor. *Nature* **377**, 32-38 (1995).
- McVicar, D. W. *et al.* DAP12-mediated signal transduction in natural killer cells. A dominant role for the Syk protein-tyrosine kinase. *J.Biol.Chem.* 273, 32934-32942 (1998).
- 84. Brumbaugh, K. M. *et al.* Functional role for Syk tyrosine kinase in natural killer cell-mediated natural cytotoxicity. *J.Exp.Med.* **186**, 1965-1974 (1997).
- 85. da Silva, A. J. *et al.* Cloning of a novel T-cell protein FYB that binds FYN and SH2-domain-containing leukocyte protein 76 and modulates interleukin 2 production. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* **94**, 7493-7498 (1997).
- Peterson, E. J., Clements, J. L., Fang, N., & Koretzky, G. A. Adaptor proteins in lymphocyte antigen-receptor signaling. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 10, 337-344 (1998).
- 87. Zhang, W., Sloan-Lancaster, J., Kitchen, J., Trible, R. P., & Samelson, L. E. LAT: the ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase substrate that links T cell receptor to cellular activation. *Cell* 92, 83-92 (1998).
- 88. Wu, J. N. & Koretzky, G. A. The SLP-76 family of adapter proteins. Semin.Immunol. 16, 379-393 (2004).

89. Yablonski, D. & Weiss, A. Mechanisms of signaling by the hematopoietic-specific adaptor proteins, SLP-76 and LAT and their B cell counterpart, BLNK/SLP-65. *Adv.Immunol.* **79**, 93-128 (2001).

- 90. Malissen, B., Aguado, E., & Malissen, M. Role of the LAT adaptor in Tcell development and Th2 differentiation. *Adv. Immunol.* **87**, 1-25 (2005).
- 91. Binstadt, B. A. *et al.* SLP-76 is a direct substrate of SHP-1 recruited to killer cell inhibitory receptors. *J.Biol.Chem.* **273**, 27518-27523 (1998).
- 92. Jevremovic, D. *et al.* Cutting edge: a role for the adaptor protein LAT in human NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *J.Immunol.* **162**, 2453-2456 (1999).
- 93. Choi, J. H., Ryu, S. H., & Suh, P. G. On/off-regulation of phospholipase C-gamma 1-mediated signal transduction. *Adv. Enzyme Regul.* **47**, 104-116 (2007).
- 94. Rosen, D. B. *et al.* A Structural Basis for the Association of DAP12 with Mouse, but Not Human, NKG2D. *J.Immunol.* **173**, 2470-2478 (2004).
- 95. Wu, J. *et al.* An activating immunoreceptor complex formed by NKG2D and DAP10. *Science* **285**, 730-732 (1999).
- 96. Wu, J., Cherwinski, H., Spies, T., Phillips, J. H., & Lanier, L. L. DAP10 and DAP12 form distinct, but functionally cooperative, receptor complexes in natural killer cells. *J.Exp. Med.* **192**, 1059-1068 (2000).
- 97. Daeron, M. & Vivier, E. Biology of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif-bearing molecules. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **244**, 1-12 (1999).
- 98. Long, E. O. Regulation of immune responses by inhibitory receptors. *Adv.Exp.Med.Biol.* **452**, 19-28 (1998).
- 99. Vely, F. & Vivier, E. Conservation of structural features reveals the existence of a large family of inhibitory cell surface receptors and noninhibitory/activatory counterparts. *J.Immunol.* **159**, 2075-2077 (1997).
- 100. Vivier, E. & Daeron, M. Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motifs. *Immunol.Today* 18, 286-291 (1997).
- Binstadt, B. A. *et al.* Sequential involvement of Lck and SHP-1 with MHC-recognizing receptors on NK cells inhibits FcR-initiated tyrosine kinase activation. *Immunity.* 5, 629-638 (1996).
- 102. Bottino, C. *et al.* The human natural killer cell receptor for major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. Surface modulation of p58 molecules and their linkage to CD3 zeta chain, Fc epsilon RI gamma chain and the p56lck kinase. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **24**, 2527-2534 (1994).
- 103. Burshtyn, D. N. *et al.* Recruitment of tyrosine phosphatase HCP by the killer cell inhibitor receptor. *Immunity.* **4**, 77-85 (1996).

- 104. Burshtyn, D. N. & Long, E. O. Regulation through inhibitory receptors: Lessons from natural killer cells. *Trends Cell Biol.* 7, 473-479 (1997).
- 105. Leibson, P. J. Signal transduction during natural killer cell activation: inside the mind of a killer. *Immunity*. **6**, 655-661 (1997).
- 106. Mason, L. H. *et al.* Differential tyrosine phosphorylation of inhibitory versus activating Ly-49 receptor proteins and their recruitment of SHP-1 phosphatase. *J.Immunol.* **159**, 4187-4196 (1997).
- 107. Olcese, L. *et al.* Human and mouse killer-cell inhibitory receptors recruit PTP1C and PTP1D protein tyrosine phosphatases. *J.Immunol.* **156**, 4531-4534 (1996).
- 108. Valiante, N. M., Phillips, J. H., Lanier, L. L., & Parham, P. Killer cell inhibitory receptor recognition of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I blocks formation of a pp36/PLC-gamma signaling complex in human natural killer (NK) cells. *J.Exp. Med.* 184, 2243-2250 (1996).
- 109. Dustin, L. B. *et al.* Expression of dominant-negative src-homology domain 2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase-1 results in increased Syk tyrosine kinase activity and B cell activation. *J.Immunol.* **162**, 2717-2724 (1999).
- 110. Plas, D. R. *et al.* Direct regulation of ZAP-70 by SHP-1 in T cell antigen receptor signaling. *Science* **272**, 1173-1176 (1996).
- 111. Lowin-Kropf, B., Kunz, B., Beermann, F., & Held, W. Impaired natural killing of MHC class I-deficient targets by NK cells expressing a catalytically inactive form of SHP-1. *J.Immunol.* **165**, 1314-1321 (2000).
- 112. Nakamura, M. C. *et al.* Mouse Ly-49A interrupts early signaling events in natural killer cell cytotoxicity and functionally associates with the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase. *J.Exp. Med.* **185**, 673-684 (1997).
- 113. Lorenz, U., Ravichandran, K. S., Burakoff, S. J., & Neel, B. G. Lack of SHPTP1 results in src-family kinase hyperactivation and thymocyte hyperresponsiveness. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* **93**, 9624-9629 (1996).
- 114. Pani, G., Fischer, K. D., Mlinaric-Rascan, I., & Siminovitch, K. A. Signaling capacity of the T cell antigen receptor is negatively regulated by the PTP1C tyrosine phosphatase. *J.Exp. Med.* **184**, 839-852 (1996).
- 115. Koo, G. C., Manyak, C. L., Dasch, J., Ellingsworth, L., & Shultz, L. D. Suppressive effects of monocytic cells and transforming growth factor-beta on natural killer cell differentiation in autoimmune viable motheaten mutant mice. *J.Immunol.* 147, 1194-1200 (1991).

- 116. Koo, G. C., Rosen, H., Sirotina, A., Ma, X. D., & Shultz, L. D. Anti-CD11b antibody prevents immunopathologic changes in viable moth-eaten bone marrow chimeric mice. *J.Immunol.* **151**, 6733-6741 (1993).
- 117. Carayannopoulos, L. N. & Yokoyama, W. M. Recognition of infected cells by natural killer cells. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* **16**, 26-33 (2004).
- 118. Colucci, F., Caligiuri, M. A., & Di Santo, J. P. What does it take to make a natural killer? *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **3**, 413-425 (2003).
- 119. Vosshenrich, C. A., Samson-Villeger, S. I., & Di Santo, J. P. Distinguishing features of developing natural killer cells. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 17, 151-158 (2005).
- 120. Williams, N. S. *et al.* Differentiation of NK1.1+, Ly49+ NK cells from flt3+ multipotent marrow progenitor cells. *J.Immunol.* **163**, 2648-2656 (1999).
- 121. Rosmaraki, E. E. *et al.* Identification of committed NK cell progenitors in adult murine bone marrow. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **31**, 1900-1909 (2001).
- 122. Boggs, S. S., Trevisan, M., Patrene, K., & Geogopoulos, K. Lack of natural killer cell precursors in fetal liver of Ikaros knockout mutant mice. *Nat.Immun.* **16**, 137-145 (1998).
- 123. Ikawa, T., Fujimoto, S., Kawamoto, H., Katsura, Y., & Yokota, Y. Commitment to natural killer cells requires the helix-loop-helix inhibitor Id2. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 98, 5164-5169 (2001).
- 124. Lacorazza, H. D. *et al.* The ETS protein MEF plays a critical role in perforin gene expression and the development of natural killer and NK-T cells. *Immunity.* **17**, 437-449 (2002).
- 125. Kim, S. *et al.* In vivo developmental stages in murine natural killer cell maturation. *Nat.Immunol.* **3**, 523-528 (2002).
- 126. Raulet, D. H. *et al.* Specificity, tolerance and developmental regulation of natural killer cells defined by expression of class I-specific Ly49 receptors. *Immunol.Rev.* **155**, 41-52 (1997).
- 127. Valiante, N. M. *et al.* Functionally and structurally distinct NK cell receptor repertoires in the peripheral blood of two human donors. *Immunity.* 7, 739-751 (1997).
- 128. Dorfman, J. R., Zerrahn, J., Coles, M. C., & Raulet, D. H. The basis for self-tolerance of natural killer cells in beta2-microglobulin- and TAP-1- mice. *J.Immunol.* **159**, 5219-5225 (1997).

- 129. Kim, S. *et al.* Licensing of natural killer cells by host major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature* **436**, 709-713 (2005).
- Liao, N. S., Bix, M., Zijlstra, M., Jaenisch, R., & Raulet, D. MHC class I deficiency: susceptibility to natural killer (NK) cells and impaired NK activity. *Science* 253, 199-202 (1991).
- 131. Fernandez, N. C. *et al.* A subset of natural killer cells achieves self-tolerance without expressing inhibitory receptors specific for self-MHC molecules. *Blood* **105**, 4416-4423 (2005).
- 132. Raulet, D. H., Vance, R. E., & McMahon, C. W. Regulation of the natural killer cell receptor repertoire. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **19**, 291-330 (2001).
- 133. Raulet, D. H. Missing self recognition and self tolerance of natural killer (NK) cells. *Semin.Immunol.* **18**, 145-150 (2006).
- 134. Gasser, S. & Raulet, D. H. Activation and self-tolerance of natural killer cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **214**, 130-142 (2006).
- 135. Becknell, B. *et al.* Efficient infection of human natural killer cells with an EBV/retroviral hybrid vector. *J.Immunol.Methods* **296**, 115-123 (2005).
- 136. Burshtyn, D. N. *et al.* Conserved residues amino-terminal of cytoplasmic tyrosines contribute to the SHP-1-mediated inhibitory function of killer cell Ig-like receptors. *J.Immunol.* **162**, 897-902 (1999).
- 137. Chiorean, E. G. *et al.* BCR/ABL alters the function of NK cells and the acquisition of killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs). *Blood* **101**, 3527-3533 (2003).
- 138. Jiang, K. *et al.* Syk regulation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent NK cell function. *J.Immunol.* **168**, 3155-3164 (2002).
- 139. Kim, S. *et al.* Licensing of natural killer cells by host major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature* **436**, 709-713 (2005).
- 140. Schroers, R. *et al.* Gene transfer into human T lymphocytes and natural killer cells by Ad5/F35 chimeric adenoviral vectors. *Exp. Hematol.* **32**, 536-546 (2004).
- 141. Guven, H. *et al.* Efficient gene transfer into primary human natural killer cells by retroviral transduction. *Exp. Hematol.* **33**, 1320-1328 (2005).
- 142. Trompeter, H. I., Weinhold, S., Thiel, C., Wernet, P., & Uhrberg, M. Rapid and highly efficient gene transfer into natural killer cells by nucleofection. *J.Immunol.Methods* 274, 245-256 (2003).

- 143. Imai, C., Iwamoto, S., & Campana, D. Genetic modification of primary natural killer cells overcomes inhibitory signals and induces specific killing of leukemic cells. *Blood* **106**, 376-383 (2005).
- 144. Karimi, M. *et al.* Silencing human NKG2D, DAP10, and DAP12 reduces cytotoxicity of activated CD8+ T cells and NK cells. *J.Immunol.* 175, 7819-7828 (2005).
- 145. Schroers, R. *et al.* Gene transfer into human T lymphocytes and natural killer cells by Ad5/F35 chimeric adenoviral vectors. *Exp. Hematol.* **32**, 536-546 (2004).
- 146. Maasho, K., Marusina, A., Reynolds, N. M., Coligan, J. E., & Borrego, F. Efficient gene transfer into the human natural killer cell line, NKL, using the Amaxa nucleofection system. *J.Immunol.Methods* 284, 133-140 (2004).
- Chiorean, E. G. *et al.* BCR/ABL alters the function of NK cells and the acquisition of killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs). *Blood* 101, 3527-3533 (2003).
- 148. Kim, S. *et al.* Licensing of natural killer cells by host major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature* **436**, 709-713 (2005).
- 149. Li, J., Rabinovich, B. A., Hurren, R., Shannon, J., & Miller, R. G. Expression cloning and function of the rat NK activating and inhibitory receptors NKR-P1A and -P1B. *Int.Immunol.* **15**, 411-416 (2003).
- 150. Becknell, B. & Caligiuri, M. A. Interleukin-2, interleukin-15, and their roles in human natural killer cells. *Adv. Immunol.* **86**, 209-239 (2005).
- 151. Yeung, R. S., Penninger, J., & Mak, T. W. T-cell development and function in gene-knockout mice. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* **6**, 298-307 (1994).
- 152. Case, S. S. *et al.* Stable transduction of quiescent CD34(+)CD38(-) human hematopoietic cells by HIV-1-based lentiviral vectors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* **96**, 2988-2993 (1999).
- 153. Miyoshi, H., Blomer, U., Takahashi, M., Gage, F. H., & Verma, I. M. Development of a self-inactivating lentivirus vector. *J. Virol.* **72**, 8150-8157 (1998).
- 154. Sutton, R. E., Wu, H. T., Rigg, R., Bohnlein, E., & Brown, P. O. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vectors efficiently transduce human hematopoietic stem cells. *J. Virol.* **72**, 5781-5788 (1998).
- 155. Blomer, U. *et al.* Highly efficient and sustained gene transfer in adult neurons with a lentivirus vector. *J. Virol.* **71**, 6641-6649 (1997).

- 156. Kafri, T., Blomer, U., Peterson, D. A., Gage, F. H., & Verma, I. M. Sustained expression of genes delivered directly into liver and muscle by lentiviral vectors. *Nat.Genet.* **17**, 314-317 (1997).
- 157. Roe, T., Reynolds, T. C., Yu, G., & Brown, P. O. Integration of murine leukemia virus DNA depends on mitosis. *EMBO J.* **12**, 2099-2108 (1993).
- 158. Wang, W. K., Chen, M. Y., Chuang, C. Y., Jeang, K. T., & Huang, L. M. Molecular biology of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J.Microbiol.Immunol.Infect.* 33, 131-140 (2000).
- 159. Varmus, H. Retroviruses. *Science* **240**, 1427-1435 (1988).
- 160. Zufferey, R. *et al.* Self-inactivating lentivirus vector for safe and efficient in vivo gene delivery. *J. Virol.* **72**, 9873-9880 (1998).
- 161. Naldini, L., Blomer, U., Gage, F. H., Trono, D., & Verma, I. M. Efficient transfer, integration, and sustained long-term expression of the transgene in adult rat brains injected with a lentiviral vector. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* **93**, 11382-11388 (1996).
- 162. Naldini, L. *et al.* In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. *Science* **272**, 263-267 (1996).
- 163. Kim, V. N., Mitrophanous, K., Kingsman, S. M., & Kingsman, A. J. Minimal requirement for a lentivirus vector based on human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J. Virol.* 72, 811-816 (1998).
- 164. Mochizuki, H., Schwartz, J. P., Tanaka, K., Brady, R. O., & Reiser, J. High-titer human immunodeficiency virus type 1-based vector systems for gene delivery into nondividing cells. *J. Virol.* 72, 8873-8883 (1998).
- 165. Naldini, L. Lentiviruses as gene transfer agents for delivery to nondividing cells. *Curr.Opin.Biotechnol.* **9**, 457-463 (1998).
- 166. Jowett, J. B. *et al.* The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr gene arrests infected T cells in the G2 + M phase of the cell cycle. *J. Virol.* **69**, 6304-6313 (1995).
- 167. Zennou, V. *et al.* HIV-1 genome nuclear import is mediated by a central DNA flap. *Cell* **101**, 173-185 (2000).
- 168. Williams, N. S., Kubota, A., Bennett, M., Kumar, V., & Takei, F. Clonal analysis of NK cell development from bone marrow progenitors in vitro: orderly acquisition of receptor gene expression. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **30**, 2074-2082 (2000).

- 169. van Rijn, R. S. *et al.* A new xenograft model for graft-versus-host disease by intravenous transfer of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in RAG2-/- gammac-/- double-mutant mice. *Blood* **102**, 2522-2531 (2003).
- 170. Dull, T. *et al.* A third-generation lentivirus vector with a conditional packaging system. *J. Virol.* **72**, 8463-8471 (1998).
- 171. Lois, C., Hong, E. J., Pease, S., Brown, E. J., & Baltimore, D. Germline transmission and tissue-specific expression of transgenes delivered by lentiviral vectors. *Science* **295**, 868-872 (2002).
- 172. Kung, S. K., An, D. S., & Chen, I. S. A murine leukemia virus (MuLV) long terminal repeat derived from rhesus macaques in the context of a lentivirus vector and MuLV gag sequence results in high-level gene expression in human T lymphocytes. *J. Virol.* **74**, 3668-3681 (2000).
- 173. An, D. S. *et al.* An inducible human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) vector which effectively suppresses HIV-1 replication. *J. Virol.* 73, 7671-7677 (1999).

174. <u>www.openbiosystems.com</u>. 2008. Ref Type: Generic

- 175. Moffat, J. *et al.* A lentiviral RNAi library for human and mouse genes applied to an arrayed viral high-content screen. *Cell* **124**, 1283-1298 (2006).
- 176. van Rijn, R. S. *et al.* A new xenograft model for graft-versus-host disease by intravenous transfer of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in RAG2-/- gammac-/- double-mutant mice. *Blood* **102**, 2522-2531 (2003).
- 177. Vahlne, G., Becker, S., Brodin, P., & Johansson, M. H. IFN-gamma production and degranulation are differentially regulated in response to stimulation in murine natural killer cells. *Scand.J.Immunol.* **67**, 1-11 (2008).
- Jacobs, R. *et al.* CD56bright cells differ in their KIR repertoire and cytotoxic features from CD56dim NK cells. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **31**, 3121-3127 (2001).
- 179. Williams, N. S., Kubota, A., Bennett, M., Kumar, V., & Takei, F. Clonal analysis of NK cell development from bone marrow progenitors in vitro: orderly acquisition of receptor gene expression. *Eur.J.Immunol.* **30**, 2074-2082 (2000).
- 180. Moretta, L., Ciccone, E., Mingari, M. C., Biassoni, R., & Moretta, A. Human natural killer cells: origin, clonality, specificity, and receptors. *Adv.Immunol.* 55, 341-380 (1994).

- Tran, J. & Kung, S. K. Lentiviral vectors mediate stable and efficient gene delivery into primary murine natural killer cells. *Mol. Ther.* 15, 1331-1339 (2007).
- 182. Trinchieri, G. Biology of natural killer cells. *Adv. Immunol.* **47**, 187-376 (1989).
- 183. Yokoyama, W. M. Natural killer cell receptors. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 10, 298-305 (1998).
- 184. Grakoui, A. *et al.* The immunological synapse: a molecular machine controlling T cell activation. *Science* **285**, 221-227 (1999).
- 185. Stinchcombe, J. C., Bossi, G., Booth, S., & Griffiths, G. M. The immunological synapse of CTL contains a secretory domain and membrane bridges. *Immunity.* **15**, 751-761 (2001).
- Peters, P. J. *et al.* Cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules are secretory lysosomes, containing both perforin and granzymes. *J.Exp.Med.* **173**, 1099-1109 (1991).
- 187. Winchester, B. G. Lysosomal membrane proteins. *Eur.J.Paediatr.Neurol.*5 Suppl A, 11-19 (2001).
- Betts, M. R. *et al.* Sensitive and viable identification of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells by a flow cytometric assay for degranulation. *J.Immunol.Methods* 281, 65-78 (2003).
- 189. Kozlowski, M. *et al.* SHP-1 binds and negatively modulates the c-Kit receptor by interaction with tyrosine 569 in the c-Kit juxtamembrane domain. *Mol.Cell Biol.* **18**, 2089-2099 (1998).
- 190. Liu, D. *et al.* Statistical determination of threshold for cellular division in the CFSE-labeling assay. *J.Immunol.Methods* **312**, 126-136 (2006).
- Grund, E. M. & Muise-Helmericks, R. C. Cost efficient and effective gene transfer into the human natural killer cell line, NK92. *J.Immunol.Methods* 296, 31-36 (2005).
- 192. Tam, Y. K. *et al.* Characterization of genetically altered, interleukin 2independent natural killer cell lines suitable for adoptive cellular immunotherapy. *Hum.Gene Ther.* **10**, 1359-1373 (1999).
- 193. Uherek, C. *et al.* Retargeting of natural killer-cell cytolytic activity to ErbB2-expressing cancer cells results in efficient and selective tumor cell destruction. *Blood* **100**, 1265-1273 (2002).

- 194. Zhang, J., Sun, R., Wei, H., Zhang, J., & Tian, Z. Characterization of interleukin-15 gene-modified human natural killer cells: implications for adoptive cellular immunotherapy. *Haematologica* **89**, 338-347 (2004).
- 195. Prlic, M., Blazar, B. R., Farrar, M. A., & Jameson, S. C. In vivo survival and homeostatic proliferation of natural killer cells. *J.Exp.Med.* **197**, 967-976 (2003).
- 196. Morizono, K., Bristol, G., Xie, Y. M., Kung, S. K., & Chen, I. S. Antibody-directed targeting of retroviral vectors via cell surface antigens. *J.Virol.* 75, 8016-8020 (2001).
- 197. Morizono, K. *et al.* Lentiviral vector retargeting to P-glycoprotein on metastatic melanoma through intravenous injection. *Nat.Med.* **11**, 346-352 (2005).
- 198. Yang, L., Bailey, L., Baltimore, D., & Wang, P. Targeting lentiviral vectors to specific cell types in vivo. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* **103**, 11479-11484 (2006).
- Abbas-Terki, T., Blanco-Bose, W., Deglon, N., Pralong, W., & Aebischer, P. Lentiviral-mediated RNA interference. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 13, 2197-2201 (2002).
- 200. An, D. S. *et al.* Efficient lentiviral vectors for short hairpin RNA delivery into human cells. *Hum.Gene Ther.* **14**, 1207-1212 (2003).
- 201. Stewart, S. A. *et al.* Lentivirus-delivered stable gene silencing by RNAi in primary cells. *RNA*. 9, 493-501 (2003).
- 202. Diefenbach, A., Jensen, E. R., Jamieson, A. M., & Raulet, D. H. Rae1 a ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunitynd H60. *Nature* 413, 165-171 (2001).
- Karlhofer, F. M., Ribaudo, R. K., & Yokoyama, W. M. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49+ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature* 358, 66-70 (1992).
- 204. Arase, H., Mocarski, E. S., Campbell, A. E., Hill, A. B., & Lanier, L. L. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science* **296**, 1323-1326 (2002).
- 205. Born, T. L. *et al.* A poxvirus protein that binds to and inactivates IL-18, and inhibits NK cell response. *J.Immunol.* **164**, 3246-3254 (2000).
- 206. Cohen, G. B. *et al.* The selective downregulation of class I major histocompatibility complex proteins by HIV-1 protects HIV-infected cells from NK cells. *Immunity.* **10**, 661-671 (1999).

- 207. Crotta, S. *et al.* Inhibition of natural killer cells through engagement of CD81 by the major hepatitis C virus envelope protein. *J.Exp.Med.* **195**, 35-41 (2002).
- 208. Clark, E. A., Shultz, L. D., & Pollack, S. B. Mutations in mice that influence natural killer (NK) cell activity. *Immunogenetics* **12**, 601-613 (1981).